

THIS AGREEMENT made in duplicate as of the 28th day of November, 2022.

BETWEEN:

THE CITY OF FREDERICTON, a local government under and by virtue of the *Local Governance Act*, SNB 2017, c.18, located at 397 Queen Street, Fredericton, New Brunswick, E3B 1B5 (hereinafter called the "Local Government")

OF THE FIRST PART

AND

MARTIN & LEVESQUE INC., incorporated under the *Canada Business Corporations Act*, with its head office at 420 3e Avenue, Levis, Quebec, G6W 5M6, (hereinafter called the "Supplier")

OF THE SECOND PART

(each a "Party", collectively the "Parties")

WHEREAS the Local Government issued a Request for Proposal P22-16 for the Supply and Delivery of Uniforms and Clothing dated June 3, 2022, with a closing date of July 18, 2022 (the "RFP"), inviting submission of proposals to provide the Services, as hereinafter defined;

AND WHEREAS the Supplier provides premium uniforms, gear and equipment, specializing in tactical, protective and exclusive products for police, emergency, military, and security professionals and submitted a proposal to the Local Government dated July 18, 2022 (the "Proposal") in response to the RFP as the Supplier wishes to provide products and services to the Local Government;

AND WHEREAS the Local Government adopted a resolution on November 28, 2022 that authorized the award of the RFP to the Supplier and authorized and approved this Agreement between the Parties;

AND WHEREAS the Parties wish to enter into this Agreement pursuant to the RFP, the RFP Response, and the terms and conditions set forth herein;

NOW THEREFORE in consideration of the terms and conditions and mutual covenants and agreements set out herein, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged by each of the Parties, the Supplier and the Local Government agree as follows:

1. SERVICES AND TERM

1.1 The Supplier shall, notwithstanding the date signed, provide and deliver the services, and/or products and perform the work (collectively the "Services") described in Schedule A hereto, in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement, for a period of three (3) years commencing on December 1, 2022 and expiring on November 30, 2025 (the "Term"), unless terminated earlier in accordance with this Agreement.

- 1.2 The Local Government may at its sole discretion and option renew this Agreement for two (2) additional one (1) year terms (each, a “Renewal Term”). The first Renewal Term would commence on December 1, 2025 and would expire on November 30, 2026; and the second Renewal Term would commence on December 1, 2026 and would expire on November 30, 2027. The Local Government shall provide notice of any intention to renew this Agreement to the Supplier not less than thirty (30) days prior to the end of the Term for the first Renewal Term and not less than thirty (30) days prior to the end of first Renewal Term for the second Renewal Term. The terms and conditions of this Agreement in effect at the end of the Term shall continue for any and all Renewal Terms, in each case, subject to any amendment in accordance with this Agreement. The representatives of the Parties identified under Section 19.11 Notices shall acknowledge any Renewal Terms in writing.
- 1.3 Any additional services, ~~products~~ or goods to be provided by the Supplier under this Agreement, other than the Services, must be approved in writing in advance by both Parties in a Statement of Work before the Supplier may perform such services. In the event that any such additional services are performed by the Supplier without written agreement by the Parties, the Local Government shall not be required to pay the Supplier any fees or other amounts in respect thereof, and Supplier will not be obligated to continue to perform such additional services.
- 1.4 The preparation of the Statement of Work Proposal will be undertaken and performed by the Supplier at its own expense.
- 1.5 All rights and obligations of the Parties under this Agreement shall be deemed to apply to such Statement of Work as if fully set forth therein.
- 1.6 The Supplier shall provide the Services and discharge its duties to the Local Government in a competent, professional and timely manner to the standard of care ordinarily exercised by other members of its profession under similar circumstances, and shall assign only duly qualified, competent and skilled personnel to carry out its obligations to the Local Government under this Agreement.
- 1.7 The Supplier shall deliver the Services on time and in accordance with the delivery schedule outlined in Schedule A, and as agreed to by the Local Government, and conform in all respects with the Local Government’s requirements. The Services shall not be deemed to be completed to the satisfaction of the Local Government or accepted by the Local Government until all requirements have been met by the Supplier in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement.
- 1.8 The Local Government may conduct an annual Supplier performance review. The annual performance review will include but shall not be limited to the following:
- acceptable performance of the specifications and Services / scope of work.
 - compliance to specifications/general requirements;
 - compliance with the terms and conditions of the RFP and general performance as per RFP and this Agreement;
 - delivery of the goods / Services;
 - the quality of goods and Services provided/adherence to detail;
 - any issues/challenges that occurred during the supply and delivery of the goods / Services;
 - efficient and effective communication between the Supplier and the Local Government;

- proper invoicing;
- proper reporting; and
- any other factors that the Local Government deems appropriate.

If the Local Government identifies performance issues related to any of the Services or Goods, the Local Government will promptly notify the Supplier of such concerns verbally or in writing, and will provide a reasonable level of specificity related to the issue. The Supplier will have five (5) business days to respond in an effort to mitigate and address the Local Government's concerns (the "Remediation Period"). In the event that the Supplier has not improved to the satisfaction of the Local Government following the Remediation Period, the Local Government may request that the Supplier take specific action such as but not limited to removing an individual from performing the Services or the Local Government may suspend or terminate the Agreement pursuant to Section 5.

- 1.9 Nothing in this Agreement shall constitute or be deemed to constitute any assurance or representation by the Local Government to the Supplier that this Agreement will be renewed or extended.
- 1.10 The Local Government shall have the right, in its sole discretion, at any time to expand or reduce the Services or Goods.
- ~~1.11 The Supplier shall ensure that all personnel employed in the delivery of the Services that attend and enter a Local Government building, facility or location whether its own employees or a subcontractor's, are fully vaccinated against COVID-19. For the purposes of this requirement, an individual is considered to be fully vaccinated fourteen (14) days after receiving the full series of a COVID-19 vaccine or combination of COVID-19 vaccines approved by the World Health Organization (e.g., two doses of a two-dose vaccine series or one dose of a single-dose vaccine series, and any required boosters or as per the current World Health Organization approvals at the time of delivery of the Services).~~
- ~~1.12 Prior to the commencement of any onsite Services and/or in the event of a change in Supplier or subcontractor personnel, the Supplier shall complete and provide, upon request of the Local Government, a (corporate) officer's certificate/attestation or complete a certificate/attestation form provided by the Local Government that all personnel providing onsite services at a Local Government building, facility or location are fully vaccinated as set out in Section 1.11.~~
- ~~1.13 The Supplier acknowledges and agrees that until further notice, the Local Government requires all onsite individuals complete a mandatory active health screening process, upon request, which may include a question on vaccination status.~~
- 1.14 The Supplier acknowledges and agrees that non-vaccinated individuals shall not be permitted entry to any Local Government building, facility or location.
- 1.15 The Local Government shall have the right to audit the Supplier for compliance with Sections 1.11, 1.12, 1.13 and 1.14. In the event of non-compliance, the Local Government may, at its sole discretion and without limiting any other rights it may have, order the Supplier or subcontractor personnel to leave the Local Government building, facility or location immediately on a temporary or permanent basis.

2. DELIVERY OF GOODS AND SERVICES

- 2.1 The Supplier agrees to supply and deliver the products or goods, including all related products, ~~hardware~~, materials, ~~software, component parts~~, packaging, labelling, ~~data and documentation~~ (“Goods”) that are required to perform the Services to the Local Government and as outlined in the attached Schedule A.
- 2.2 The Supplier shall promptly report to the Local Government, upon request, its progress in performing its obligations under this Agreement and provide such explanations as the Local Government may require in connection therewith.
- 2.3 The Supplier shall furnish at its own expense all labour, machinery, equipment, tools, transportation and other inputs required to perform the Services and provide the Goods, unless otherwise agreed to by the Local Government in writing. The Local Government shall not be liable for any loss of or damage to machinery, equipment or tools furnished by the Supplier.
- 2.4 The Supplier shall, at its own expense, and in accordance with the invoicing, delivery terms, shipping, packing, and other instructions printed on the face of any purchase order or otherwise provided to Supplier by the Local Government in writing, pack, load, and deliver Goods and Services to the location specified by the Local Government. The Local Government shall not be responsible for any charges for freight, transportation, insurance, shipping, storage, handling, demurrage, cartage, packaging, import fees or similar charges unless explicitly agreed to in writing.
- 2.5 The Supplier acknowledges and agrees that time is of the essence with respect to delivery of the Goods and performance of Services. Goods shall be delivered ~~and Services completed~~ by the delivery dates specified by the Local Government. The Supplier shall immediately notify the Local Government if the Supplier anticipates it will likely be unable to meet a delivery date.
- 2.6 At any time prior to the delivery of the Goods or performance of the Services, the Local Government may, upon notice to the Supplier, cancel or change a purchase order, or any portion thereof, for any reason, including, without limitation, for the convenience of the Local Government or due to failure of the Supplier to comply with the Agreement, unless otherwise noted.
- 2.7 The Supplier shall ship all Goods FOB to the delivery point specified by the Local Government.
- 2.8 The Supplier acknowledges and agrees that title, ownership and risk of loss to any Goods shall only pass to the Local Government, upon successful delivery of the Goods to the delivery point specified by the Local Government. The Supplier shall be responsible to obtain appropriate insurance for the Goods while they are in transit from the Supplier’s loading point to the delivery point specified by the Local Government.
- 2.9 Supplier shall not supply a substitute for the Goods or Services without the prior written approval of the Local Government. Approval of substitutes shall be at the sole discretion of the Local Government.
- 2.10 The Supplier acknowledges and agrees to the Supplementary ~~Equipment Purchase and Maintenance~~ Terms and Conditions attached as Schedule B.

3. INSPECTION AND ACCEPTANCE

- 3.1 All shipments of Goods and all Services performed and supplied by the Supplier are subject to the Local Government's right of inspection and testing.
- 3.2 The Local Government has thirty (30) business days (the "Inspection Period") following the delivery of the Goods to the delivery point specified by the Local Government or the completion of Services by the Supplier to undertake such inspection, and upon such inspection by the Local Government, in its sole but reasonable discretion, it shall either accept the Goods or Services or reject them.
- 3.3 The Local Government has the right to reject any Goods that are delivered in excess of or below the quantity ordered or are damaged or defective. In addition, the Local Government has the right to reject any Goods or Services that are not in conformance with the specifications or any term of this Agreement.
- 3.4 The delivery of Goods or transfer of title of Goods from the Supplier to the Local Government does not constitute acceptance of those Goods by the Local Government.
- 3.5 The Local Government shall provide the Supplier, no later than the end of the Inspection Period, a written notice of any Goods or Services that are rejected, together with the reasons for such rejection. If the Local Government does not provide the Supplier with any notice of rejection before the end of the Inspection Period, the Local Government shall be deemed to have accepted such Goods or Services.
- 3.6 The Local Government's inspection (or non-inspection), testing (or non-testing), acceptance or use of the Goods or Services shall not limit or otherwise affect the Supplier's warranty obligations with respect to the Goods or Services.
- 3.7 If the Local Government rejects any Goods or Services, the Supplier shall arrange to have rejected Goods returned to the Supplier at the Supplier's expense, and the Supplier shall at the Local Government's option:
- (a) provide a full credit or refund of all amounts paid by the Local Government to the Supplier for the rejected Goods or Services; or
 - (b) provide replacement Goods or Services to be received within the time period specified by the Local Government.
- 3.8 The Supplier shall not deliver Goods that were previously rejected by the Local Government unless delivery of such Goods is approved in advance in writing by the Local Government, and is accompanied by a written disclosure of the Local Government's prior rejection(s).

4. PRICE AND PAYMENT

- 4.1 In consideration for the Services and Goods requested by, and performed to the satisfaction of the Local Government, and subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the Local Government shall pay the Supplier the fees outlined on Schedule C.
- 4.2 The payment of fees and the expansion of or continuation of Services under this Agreement is contingent on the Local Government's annual approved budget. If the Local

Government does not obtain approval for the expense, they will inform the Supplier in advance of utilizing the billable Services. In no instance will the Local Government use Services in advance of obtaining budgetary approval for payment of the Services.

4.3 The Supplier shall not be entitled to receive payment for any Services or Goods that are not outlined under Schedule A or Schedule C, (as such is considered to be “Excess Services”) unless the Local Government has given prior written authorization to the Supplier for the provision of such Excess Services.

4.4 Each invoice submitted by the Supplier for payment shall contain a detailed description of the Services in respect of which it is being remitted, and all such other information as specified by the Local Government from time to time for inclusion therein. Subject to verification by the Local Government, invoices will be paid thirty (30) days following receipt. Payments will be administered through the Local Government’s electronic payment process. Following the execution of this Agreement, the Supplier shall send Proper Invoices in proportion to the progress made with each phase of the Services, if applicable, electronically to invoices@fredericton.ca, unless the Local Government advises otherwise. Invoices received after 4:30 p.m. (AST) will be considered to be received on the next business day.

“Proper Invoices” mean a written bill or other request for payment for services or materials made pursuant to this Agreement and shall contain the following information, and any other requirements that this Agreement specifies: (a) Supplier’s name, telephone number, mailing address and shipping address (if different than the mailing address); (b) the Supplier’s invoice number; (c) the date and the period during which the Services or materials were supplied; (d) a description, including quantity (itemized list of services being invoiced for, time spent by each employee and expenses incurred on the project in the billing period, where appropriate), of the Services or materials supplied; (e) the amount payable for the Services or materials that were supplied including a total showing how much money has been billed previously and a total billed to date, (i.e. current plus previous invoices) as applicable and the payment terms; (f) the name, title, telephone number and mailing address of the person to whom payment is to be sent; (g) the name or title of the project; (h) HST must also be shown as a separate line item; and (i) any other information that the Local Government may require.

4.5 The Parties acknowledge and agree that the Local Government shall not be considered to be in default if the payment process for a Proper Invoice is delayed due to the Supplier’s failure to complete with the requirements of Section 4.

4.6 No payment by the Local Government to the Supplier hereunder shall be or construed to be an acceptance or approval by the Local Government of incomplete, defective or improper performance by the Supplier of any of its obligations under this Agreement or operate to relieve the Supplier from the performance of any of its obligations hereunder that have not been performed in accordance with the requirements set out in this Agreement.

4.7 The Supplier is responsible for paying its own costs and expenses incurred in connection with its performance of the Services. For greater certainty, such costs may include but are not limited to telephone, copying, courier, travel, parking, fuel surcharge and pandemic costs shall not be reimbursed by the Local Government.

4.8 The Local Government may set-off any amount due or owing to the Supplier, or any subcontractor, pursuant to this Agreement against any amounts the Supplier owes to the Local Government.

5 SUSPENSION AND TERMINATION OF AGREEMENT

- 5.1 The Local Government shall be entitled to immediately suspend and/or terminate this Agreement for cause, upon the occurrence of any of the following events, each of which shall constitute an "Event of Default":
- (a) The Supplier breaches or fails to comply with any of the terms and conditions of this Agreement, and such breach or failure is not remedied by the Supplier to the reasonable satisfaction of the Local Government within ten (10) days after written notice from the Local Government to remedy the breach or failure;
 - (b) The Supplier becomes insolvent, commits an act of bankruptcy, makes an assignment for the benefit of creditors, or otherwise acknowledges its insolvency, or a receiver or receiver manager is appointed for any property of the Supplier; or
 - (c) Any statement, representation or warranty made by the Supplier (in its Proposal) or in this Agreement is untrue or incorrect.
- 5.2 If this Agreement is suspended or terminated for cause pursuant to Section 5.1 as a result of an Event of Default, the Supplier shall be responsible for and shall reimburse the Local Government for all loss, costs and damages incurred by the Local Government as a result of or arising from the Event of Default, including any costs incurred by the Local Government to correct any defects or deficiencies in any of the Services, and any costs incurred by the Local Government to procure the Services or any part thereof from another provider.
- 5.3 Notwithstanding Section 5.1, the Local Government may, at its sole discretion, at no cost, terminate this Agreement without cause at any time prior to the expiration of the Term, or Renewal Term, upon giving thirty (30) days prior written notice of termination to the Supplier. In such an event, the Supplier shall be entitled to receive payment for the Services it has satisfactorily performed up to the date of termination, and where applicable, to the payment of any holdback which the Local Government is then holding at such time. Payments to the Supplier of the foregoing amounts shall constitute full and final satisfaction of the Local Government's obligations to the Supplier under this Agreement. In the event this Agreement is terminated by the Local Government pursuant to this Section 5.3, the Supplier shall not be reimbursed for any profits that may have been anticipated but not earned up to the termination date, and the Supplier shall not have any claim or entitlement to any additional compensation or damages arising from such termination.
- 5.4 Within sixty (60) business days following the expiry or termination of this Agreement the Supplier shall, a part of the provision of the Services in exchange for the payment of fees under this Agreement, (i) transfer to the Local Government all Data, Confidential Information, Personal Information and Material (including paper and electronic copies) then in custody or control of the Supplier or a subcontractor, by means of a commonly-used format that is readable across multiple industry-standard mediums or applications, and thereafter (ii) locate, delete and destroy any copies of Data, Confidential Information, Personal Information and Material that might remain on the Supplier's storage medium used for the storage, and (iii) wipe the storage medium clean. The Supplier shall ensure that any Data, Confidential Information, Personal Information or Material that may reside with a subcontractor is treated in conformity with Section 5.4 of this Agreement. The Supplier shall also provide written confirmation of completion of each action described

above, as each is completed to the Local Government.

- 5.5 Neither the expiration nor the earlier suspension or termination of this Agreement shall relieve, or be deemed to relieve, the Supplier from any duties, obligations or liabilities hereunder that accrued prior to such expiration or termination, or which by their nature are intended to survive the expiration or earlier termination of this Agreement, including but not limited to all warranties given by the Supplier in respect of the Services, and those duties and obligations of the Supplier set out in Section 5 (Suspension and Termination of Agreement), Section 6 (Confidentiality), Section 7 (Material Rights), Section 11 (Insurance, Liability and Indemnity), Section 15 (Representations, Acknowledgements and Warranties) and Section 18 (Accounts and Audit).

6 CONFIDENTIALITY

- 6.1 The Supplier acknowledges and confirms that all information provided to it by the Local Government hereunder or to which the Supplier has access as a result of providing the Services to the Local Government is confidential information (“Confidential Information”). Unless required by law or an order of a court of competent jurisdiction, such Confidential Information shall not, either during the Term, or Renewal Term, or at any time thereafter, be disclosed by the Supplier, to any third party or to any employees of the Supplier, other than its employees who are directly involved in providing the Services, without the prior written consent of the Local Government.
- 6.2 The Supplier shall implement and maintain security standards and procedures for the safeguarding of the Local Government’s Confidential Information to prevent unauthorized access thereto and to ensure compliance with applicable legislation. The Supplier agrees to promptly notify the Local Government in writing upon becoming aware of a breach of either the Supplier’s (or any subcontractor) security standards and procedures or any unauthorized disclosure of information that the Supplier is required to keep confidential under applicable law. The Supplier shall take immediate steps to mitigate any breach or unauthorized disclosure.
- 6.3 The Supplier acknowledges that the Local Government is subject to the *Right to Information and Protection of Privacy Act*, SNB 2009, c. R-10.6 (“RTIPPA”), as amended, with respect to the personal information, as defined thereunder, in its custody and control. The Supplier agrees that the Local Government may disclose this Agreement or portions thereof as may be required pursuant to RTIPPA or a City Council approval process, if required, and that no such disclosure constitutes a breach of confidentiality.
- 6.4 The Supplier represents, warrants and undertakes to the Local Government that it, and any subcontractor, shall comply with the RTIPPA, the terms and conditions contained in the Privacy Protection Schedule, attached as Schedule D to this Agreement, and protect personal information collected by the Local Government as if it were a public body under RTIPPA.

7 MATERIAL RIGHTS

- 7.1 All findings, data, information, surveys, research, working papers, drawings, spreadsheets, evaluations, databases and documents, regardless of storage format or whether in draft or final form that are collected, created or produced by the Supplier in the performance of this Agreement (collectively the “Materials”) are the exclusive property of the Local Government. All intellectual property rights, including patents, copyrights, trademark and

industrial design in the Materials, with the exception of any pre-existing intellectual property rights of the Supplier therein, are the sole property of the Local Government, are hereby irrevocably assigned by the Supplier to the Local Government and the Supplier herewith waives all moral rights in those Materials.

7.2 All research reports, surveys, findings, data and other information comprising the Materials are Confidential Information of the Local Government and are subject to the provisions of Section 6 of this Agreement.

7.3 Local Government reserves the right, in its sole discretion, to publish or release, in whole or in part, or to refrain from publishing or releasing, any research, reports, information, audio visual materials, information or data produced by the Supplier in the performance of the Services under this Agreement.

~~7.4 The Supplier shall secure and ensure that the Local Government has all licences (including third party licences) that are needed for any software that the Local Government will require to lawfully continue using all deliverables that the Supplier has agreed to provide as part of the Services.~~

~~7.5 The Supplier hereby grants to the Local Government a perpetual non-exclusive licence to use any computer software or designs of a generic nature to which the Supplier holds copyright during the Term (Renewal Term or subscription period), and that may be included in any work product comprising any part of the Services delivered to the Local Government under this Agreement.~~

7.6 The Supplier shall provide the Local Government the ability to download copies of all Materials, Confidential Information, Personal Information and Data in its possession which shall be in a commonly used (workable as-is) format that is readable across multiple industry standard mediums or applications and/or provide or return to the Local Government all Materials, Confidential Information, personal Information and data in its possession and destroy all copies thereof, and no such Materials, Confidential Information, Personal Information, and Data shall thereafter be retained or used in any form by the Supplier.

Upon request from the Local Government, the Supplier shall locate, delete and destroy any copies of Material, Confidential Information, Personal Information and Data that may remain on the Supplier's or a subcontractors storage medium used for storage and shall wipe the storage medium clean. No Materials, Confidential Information, Personal Information or Data shall thereafter be retained or used in any form by the Supplier. The Supplier shall provide written confirmation of the deletion, destruction of any copies of Material, Confidential Information, Personal Information and Data and that the identified storage medium has been wiped clean.

7.7 The Parties acknowledge and agree that the Local Government shall not incur any costs, charges or fees with respect to Section 7.

8 INFORMATION SECURITY

8.1 The Supplier acknowledges and agrees that, in the course of providing the Services, the Supplier may receive, have access to, control over, or custody of Confidential Information, Materials, Personal Information and Data. In circumstances where this occurs, the Supplier shall comply with the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement, including Section 8.2 below, in its collection, receipt, transmission, retention, storage, use, disclosure and

disposal of Confidential Information, Materials, Personal Information and Data, (collectively in this Section 8 "Use") and be responsible for any unlawful or unauthorized Use or Mishandling of Confidential Information, Materials, Personal Information or Data it receives, has access to, or which is under its control or custody (or the temporary control or custody of a subcontractor), to the extent such unlawful or unauthorized Use arises out of or is related to the Supplier's or any employee, director, officer, agent, service provider, supplier or subcontractor of the Supplier, negligent act or omission, or failure to act in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.

8.2 The Supplier both directly, and through its third party service providers, agrees and covenants to:

- (a) adhere to leading industry information security practices, such as ISO 27000 and its successors or equivalent industry alternatives (e.g., COBIT, ITIL) with respect to Materials, Personal Information, Data and Confidential Information of the Local Government that is in its custody or control;
- (b) host Materials, Personal Information, Data and Confidential Information of the Local Government that is in its custody or control in a hardened cloud data center(s) which shall be located in Canada and that adheres to the SSAE18/ISAE 3402 standard for data centers;
- (c) maintain (and provide the Local Government, upon request, a copy of a comprehensive and up-to-date set of information security and data integrity/protection policies relative to the Supplier's Use of Materials, Personal Information, Data and Confidential Information of the Local Government (including, for example: Data collection, retention, backup and destruction rules, Data Breach response protocols, and disaster recovery procedures) that are consistent with leading industry standards referenced in Section 8.2(a) above;
- (d) except where to do so would result in a violation of applicable laws or regulations, provide the Local Government with written notice (in priority to all other interested parties and regulatory bodies) of any Data Breach that may affect the Local Government, or any of their employees or customers, and then take (and document) all necessary steps at its cost and effort to mitigate and remediate the breach as required under (i) this Agreement, (ii) the Supplier's data privacy and security policies and procedures, and all applicable laws and regulations;
- (e) plan and execute regular internal audits of the Supplier's information security procedures and controls relative to the protection of its customer information. The Local Government may obtain a copy of the results (or audit performed) upon request; and
- (f) securely purge Materials, Personal Information, Data and Confidential Information of the Local Government, as required (i) under this Agreement, including when appropriate in the provision of the Services, (ii) by operation of applicable laws and regulations, or (iii) by the Local Government, acting reasonably in its direction of the Supplier; and thereafter inform the Local Government.

8.3 The Supplier shall monitor its third-party providers and subcontractors and enforce its contractual rights to ensure that in the provision of the Services and Goods its third-party

service providers and subcontractors comply with data security and systems security commitments.

9 INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR

9.1 This Agreement is a contract for the performance of the Services. The Supplier is engaged by the Local Government hereunder as an independent contractor and shall not at any time hold itself out as an employee, servant or agent of the Local Government. No partnership, joint venture, agency or other legal relationship is created or deemed to be created by this Agreement or any actions of the Parties hereunder. The Supplier shall not have authority under this Agreement to bind the Local Government or to commit the Local Government to the payment of money to any third party.

10 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

10.1 The Supplier shall comply with all applicable laws governing the conduct of its business and the provision of the Services and Goods to the Local Government.

~~10.2 Without limiting the generality of Section 10.1, the Supplier shall comply with the requirements of the *Official Languages Act*, SNB 2002, c. O-0.5, as amended, that pertain to the Local Government in the provision and delivery of the Services as they relate to communications and services prescribed by Regulation 2002-63, as amended, in both official languages, including but not limited to:~~

~~(a) Consultations/Public Meetings: presentation materials, displays, comment cards/feedback mechanism or other materials. The Supplier or the Local Government shall have at least one bilingual staff or interpreter present to answer questions and discuss technical drawings and/or documents;~~

~~(b) Signage: building, facility, traffic and construction signs; and~~

~~(c) Communications: public notices, information bulletins, advertisements, public education material.~~

~~Notwithstanding the provisions of this Section 10.2, the Local Government shall be responsible for translation of all documents, video and other public notices and information required by the Supplier in the provision of the Services. The Supplier giving written notice to the Local Government of the date that any and all translation must be received by the Supplier to meet its timelines.~~

10.3 The Supplier agrees to maintain in good standing all licences, permits, registrations or authorizations it is required to obtain in order to lawfully provide the Services in the Province of New Brunswick. Without limiting the foregoing, professional personnel performing any part of the Services on behalf of the Supplier shall be required to comply with all applicable professional registration or licensing requirements in effect in the Province of New Brunswick at the time such Services are being performed.

10.4 Neither the execution of this Agreement by the Local Government or the acceptance of the Supplier's Proposal shall be or deemed to be approval or authorization by the Local Government to anything related to the business or operations of the Supplier or the provision of the Services that requires any permit or licence or approval pursuant to federal, provincial or municipal legislation, regulations or by-laws.

10.5 The Supplier shall promptly provide to the Local Government, upon request (unless specified otherwise in the tender or request for proposal), copies of all permits, licences, authorizations and registrations that it is required to obtain in order to provide the Services, as well as evidence of the Supplier's compliance with laws applicable to the performance of the Services.

11 INSURANCE, LIABILITY AND INDEMNITY

11.1 The Supplier, and any subcontractor involved in the delivery or provision of Services or Goods, shall at its own expense obtain and maintain for the Term, or Renewal Term, and for an additional period of two (2) years thereafter the following insurance coverage:

(a) Commercial General Liability

(i) The policy shall provide a policy limit of not less than Five Million Dollars (\$5,000,000.00) per occurrence for all claims arising out of bodily injury (including death), personal injury, and damage to property of others. Such policy shall not contain any exclusion that conflict with the Services required to be delivered or performed under this Agreement. The Supplier shall list the Local Government and any other party required by the Local Government as an additional insured. The policy shall also contain cross liability and severability of interest.

(b) ~~Automobile Liability Insurance~~

~~(i) The policy shall provide coverage for liability arising out of the use of owned, non-owned, leased or hired automobiles in connection with the performance of the Services. Coverage shall consist of a combined single limit of not less than Five Million Dollars (\$5,000,000.00) per occurrence. Alternatively, for Services that do not require the use of owned, non-owned, leased or hired automobile, the Supplier shall provide written confirmation stating same within five (5) Business Days of the execution of the Agreement instead of the required insurance coverage.~~

11.2 Each of the aforementioned policies in Section 11.1(a), ~~and 11.1(b)~~ shall have policy limits not less than five million dollars (\$5,000,000.00) per claim or occurrence, aggregate limits not less than five million dollars (\$5,000,000.00) within any policy year.

11.3 The insurance to be maintained by the Supplier hereunder shall:

- (a) be issued by financially sound insurers acceptable to the Local Government and licensed to carry on business in the Province of New Brunswick or Canada;
- (b) require the insurer to provide the Local Government with at least thirty (30) days' prior written notice of a material change in the policy or termination or cancellation of the policy;
- (c) provide coverage for liability arising out of property damage, loss, personal injury (including death), or any other damage resulting from any act or omission of the Supplier, its officers, directors, employees, servants, and agents; and
- (d) be primary insurance without right of contribution of any other insurance carried by the Supplier or by the Local Government.

- 11.4 Prior to the award of any request for proposal or the signing of this Agreement, the Supplier shall deliver to the Local Government certificates of insurance evidencing the insurance required under this Agreement is in effect. Thereafter and throughout the Term, or Renewal Term, of this Agreement, the Supplier shall, provide the Local Government any and all renewal certificates of insurance evidencing that the insurance required under this Agreement continues in effect. The Supplier shall also provide a certificate of insurance upon request of the Local Government.
- 11.5 The Supplier shall provide the Local Government with a certificate of renewal for each insurance policy no later than fifteen (15) days prior to the expiry date of the applicable policy.
- 11.6 When requested by the Local Government, the Supplier shall provide copies of its insurance policies to the Local Government for their review and inspection during the Term, or Renewal Term, of this Agreement or prior to the Parties signing this Agreement.
- 11.7 The Parties acknowledge and agree that any other valid or collectible insurance that may be available to the Local Government shall not apply to any loss until the coverage and limits available under the insurance policies maintained by the Supplier in accordance with this Agreement have been exhausted.
- 11.8 The Supplier shall indemnify and hold harmless the Local Government, its officers, directors, employees, councillors, agents, representatives, officials, successors and assigns (hereinafter the "Indemnified Parties"), from and against any and all claims, actions, suits, executions, demands, or other proceedings of any kind or nature, and all loss, liability, judgments, costs, charges, damages, liens and expenses (including legal fees) of any nature whatsoever and howsoever caused ("Losses") arising out of or resulting from:
- (a) an Event of Default;
 - (b) a Data Breach;
- "Data Breach" means (i) the Mishandling of Confidential Information, Material, Data or Personal Information, and (ii) any act, error or omission that violates or causes the Local Government to violate any applicable data privacy/security laws or regulations.
- "Mishandling" means the collection, handling, access, use, management, control, retention, storage, disclosure, transfer, disposal, destruction, hack or loss of Confidential Information, Material, Personal Information or Data in a manner that fails to comply with (i) this Agreement and the Local Government's lawful instructions relative thereto, (ii) the Supplier's data privacy, security policies and procedures or (iii) applicable data privacy or security laws and regulations (e.g. the Supplier's obligations with respect to Personal Information).
- "Personal Information" is defined in Schedule D.
- (c) any act, omission, failure or negligence of the Supplier, or any of its employees, servants, agents, or subcontractors, in the performance of this Agreement, including without limitation, any injury or death to persons, or loss of or damage to property;

- (d) the death of or bodily injury to any employee, customer, agent, business invitee, visitor or other person, to the extent caused by the negligence or willful misconduct of the Supplier or any Supplier personnel or Supplier subcontractor;
- (e) the damage, loss or destruction of any real or tangible personal property (excluding data) to the extent caused by the negligence or willful misconduct of the Supplier or any Supplier personnel;
- (f) the unauthorized disclosure or breach by the Supplier or any Supplier personnel of any Confidential Information, Materials and/or Personal Information;
- (g) any acts performed by or on behalf of the Supplier beyond the authority of the Supplier under the terms of this Agreement;
- (h) any illness, injury or death of any employee of the Supplier;
- (i) any breach or resulting expenses incurred by the Supplier attributable to the Supplier's responsibilities pursuant to applicable health and safety legislation;
- (j) any infringement or alleged infringement of any patent, trade secret, service mark, trade name, copyright, official mark, moral right, trade-mark, industrial design or other propriety rights conferred by contract, common law, statute or otherwise in respect to the Services or any matter provided to the Local Government or performed by the Supplier, or anyone else for whom at law the Supplier is responsible, except to the extent any such alleged infringement is attributable to the actions or omissions of the Indemnified Parties;
- (k) a security breach caused by or attributable to the negligence, actions, omissions or delays in the performance of this Agreement by the Supplier;
- (l) an allegation that the Services, or any party thereof, violate the intellectual property rights of a third party; or
- (m) a breach or non-performance of the Supplier's obligations, representations or warranties described in this Agreement

(collectively, "Indemnified Claim(s)"). Notwithstanding the foregoing, the indemnification obligations of the Supplier under this Section 11.8 do not apply to the extent that the Indemnified Claim arises out of (i) a modification of the Services or documentation by the Local Government, or combining the Services with services or products not provided by Supplier, unless such modification or combination is made at the recommendation or direction of, is authorized or agreed to by, the Supplier or Supplier subcontractor, or is necessary for the Local Government to use the Services in accordance with any specifications or documentation; or (ii) misuse of the Services by the Local Government in breach of this Agreement.

11.9 The Supplier will, at its sole cost and expense and always acting in a reasonable manner, diligently investigate, defend and/or settle any Indemnified Claim advanced against the Local Government provided that:

- (a) the Local Government promptly notifies the Supplier in writing of any such Indemnified Claim,

- (b) the Supplier is afforded the right to control and direct the investigation, preparation, defence and settlement of the Indemnified Claim,
- (c) the Local Government provides reasonable assistance and cooperation to the Supplier in connection with the defence and settlement of the Indemnified Claim, at the Supplier's cost and expense (including reimbursement of reasonable legal fees and expenses that may be incurred by the Local Government directly related to such assistance or cooperation), and
- (d) the settlement of any Indemnified Claim is subject to the written consent of the Local Government, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, delayed or conditioned; provided that the Local Government may withhold its consent if such settlement requires the Local Government to (i) admit wrongdoing, (ii) take or refrain from taking any action, or (iii) pay for any part of the settlement account. As part of any settlement, the Local Government shall receive the benefit of a legally binding and enforceable unconditional release, drafted in form and substance to the satisfaction the Local Government.

If the Supplier fails to assume and direct the defence and settlement of an Indemnified Claim as contemplated under this Agreement, in addition to any other remedy available under this Agreement the Indemnified Parties may assume and direct the defence and settlement of the Indemnified Claim and the Supplier shall be liable to be reimburse the Indemnitee for all resulting costs and expenses, including legal costs.

11.10 In addition to Section 11.09, should the Services become, or in the Supplier's reasonable determination be likely to become, the subject of an Indemnified Claim in respect of an allegation of infringement of the intellectual property rights of a third party, the Supplier shall, at its expense and election:

- (a) obtain for the Local Government the right to continue using the Services, on the terms and conditions set out in this Agreement; or
- (b) modify or substitute the infringing portion of the Services in a manner that (i) does not infringe on the intellectual property rights of a third party, and (ii) results in the Supplier providing the modified services in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement.

11.11 The Local Government shall not be liable for any damages or injury (including death) to any person or to any property of the Supplier as a result of or arising out of this Agreement or the provision of the Services or Goods by the Supplier under this Agreement, unless such damages are direct damages and are caused solely and directly by or as a result of the negligence of the Local Government. In no event shall the Local Government be liable for any indirect or consequential damages that are sustained by the Supplier, howsoever caused, as a result of or arising out of this Agreement or the provision by the Supplier of any Services or Goods hereunder.

11.12 The Local Government shall not be liable for any claim, of a Supplier's subcontractor arising out of or related to this Agreement or the provision of the Services hereunder, regardless of how caused.

- 11.13 If the Supplier or its workers are employed in an industry prescribed by legislation where coverage is required under the *Worker's Compensation Act* (New Brunswick) the Supplier shall verify prior to signing this Agreement that they are registered and in good standing by obtaining a clearance certificate from WorkSafe NB. The Supplier shall also provide a copy of the clearance certificate to the Local Government prior to the Parties signing the Agreement.
- 11.14 If at any time during the Term or Renewal Term of this Agreement the Supplier's WorkSafe NB coverage lapses, the Supplier, upon receipt of an invoice, shall pay the Local Government for any charges that the Local Government incurs.

12 RESOURCES

- 12.1 In the event that the Supplier requires access to equipment or office space of the Local Government in order to carry out any part of the Services, the Supplier shall comply with all applicable safety and security legislation and all policies and directives of the Local Government relating to any buildings, premises, equipment or software to which the Supplier is given access.
- 12.2 The Supplier shall assign a sufficient number of qualified, competent and skilled personnel to carry out its obligations under this Agreement. In the event that the Supplier's Proposal included the names or titles of specific personnel or any proposed subcontractor to provide the Services, or any part thereof, the Supplier's personnel and any subcontractors so indicated in the Proposal shall be required to provide the Services and no substitutions shall be permitted without the prior written consent of the Local Government. If the Local Government, in its sole discretion, considers a proposed substitute to be acceptable, the Local Government may consent to the substitution, provided however that such consent may be subject to such terms and conditions as the Local Government designates in writing to the Supplier. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Local Government shall have the right at any time, in its sole discretion, to require that the Supplier replace, at no cost or expense to the Local Government, any Supplier personnel or subcontractor involved in providing the Services whom the Local Government determines to be unsuitable, and in such event, the Supplier shall immediately appoint a duly qualified, competent and skilled replacement to fill the position vacated.

13 TITLE AND ACCEPTANCE

- 13.1 Unless otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, title (and ownership) to all deliverables, or any part thereof, comprising the Services to be provided by the Supplier shall vest in the Local Government on delivery and acceptance by the Local Government. Upon payment being made by the Local Government on account of materials, parts, work in process, or finished work, title therein shall vest in and remain with the Local Government, provided however that the risk of any loss or damage thereto shall remain with the Supplier until their acceptance by the Local Government. Vesting of title in the Local Government as a result of payments made by the Local Government to the Supplier shall not constitute acceptance, or be deemed to constitute acceptance, by the Local Government of any such materials, Goods, parts, work in progress or finished work, and shall not relieve the Supplier of its obligations to perform the Services in accordance with the requirements of this Agreement.

13.2 The Supplier shall promptly pay for all labour, services and materials that it requires to provide the Services. The Supplier agrees that it shall not do or permit anything to be done that would result in any liens, charges or encumbrances being placed on or attaching to any materials, Goods, parts, work in process, finished work or deliverables comprising the Services to be provided to the Local Government under this Agreement.

14 FORCE MAJEURE

14.1 The Supplier shall not be liable for a failure or delay in performing any of its obligations hereunder that occurs without the fault or negligence of the Supplier and is attributable solely to a cause beyond its reasonable control ("Force Majeure Event"). For the purposes of this Agreement, the following shall be considered to be a Force Majeure Event: flood, fire, explosion, power failure, acts of God, war, terrorism, civil commotion, pandemic, epidemic, the enactment of any law, order, regulation or by-law, labour strikes or disputes, slowdowns, picketing, boycotts, stop-work order, injunction or other causes beyond their reasonable control excluding a non-performing Party's lack of or insufficient financial resources to discharge its duties, liabilities or obligations hereunder.

14.2 Where the Supplier claims that a Force Majeure Event has occurred, the Supplier shall be required to give immediate written notice thereof to the Local Government, which notice shall describe the Force Majeure Event, its cause, the probable duration of the delay resulting therefrom, and the steps being taken by the Supplier to mitigate the impact of the Force Majeure Event on the performance of the Supplier's obligations hereunder.

14.3 Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section 14 if a delay or failure arising from a Force Majeure Event continues for ten (10) consecutive days, the Local Government may, in its sole discretion, terminate this Agreement upon three (3) days prior written notice to the Supplier. In the case of termination by the Local Government pursuant to this Section 14.3, the Supplier shall be entitled to receive payment only for the Services provided prior to the termination date which have met the requirements of this Agreement, and such payment shall constitute full and final satisfaction of the Local Government's obligations to the Supplier hereunder.

15 REPRESENTATIONS, ACKNOWLEDGMENTS AND WARRANTIES

15.1 The Supplier represents and warrants to the Local Government, with the intention and knowledge that the Local Government is relying on each such representation and warranty in entering into this Agreement, that:

- (a) All statements contained in the Supplier's Proposal, and any certificate or other document delivered to the Local Government as part negotiations between the Parties or under this Agreement or in connection with the Services to be provided hereunder are true and correct;
- (b) The Supplier has no knowledge of any fact that may materially adversely affect the Supplier's business or operations or its financial condition, or its ability to fulfill its obligations to the Local Government under this Agreement;
- (c) The Supplier has the personnel, experience, qualifications and other resources to provide the Services in accordance with the requirements of this Agreement in a timely, efficient and professional manner in accordance with the Required Standard of Care.

“Required Standard of Care” means: (a) using the Standards, practices, methods and procedures among the highest commercial standards of practice and professionalism as understood in the Province of New Brunswick; (b) conforming to applicable laws and all rules of professional conduct applicable to the Supplier or the Supplier personnel; (c) exercising the degree of skill and care, diligence, prudence and foresight which would be expected from a leading person or professional performing work similar to those called for under this Agreement and (d) using only proper materials and methods as are suited to the function and performance intended;

“Standards” means, at a given time, those specifications, manuals, codes, practices, methods and procedures applicable to the Required Standard of Care;

- (d) The Supplier is validly existing under the laws of the location of its head office and the Supplier has all necessary corporate power, authority and capacity to enter into, meet and perform its obligations under this Agreement;
- (e) The entering into of this Agreement by the Supplier and the performance of its obligations hereunder has been authorized by all necessary corporate action;
- (f) The Supplier is not aware of any legal action instituted, threatened or pending against the Supplier that could have a material adverse effect on its ability to perform its obligations under this Agreement;
- (g) This Agreement has been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the Supplier and constitutes a valid and binding obligation of the Supplier enforceable against it in accordance with its terms, subject only to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency and other similar laws affecting the enforceability of the rights of creditors generally;
- (h) The Supplier can perform the Services (and deliver the Goods), and the Local Government shall be entitled to utilize the Services and Goods, in accordance with the requirements of this Agreement without infringing any trade secret, patent, copyright, industrial design or other intellectual property right enforceable in Canada, and the Supplier has obtained, and will maintain, at its own expense, all requisite and appropriate authorizations and permissions, including those concerning any licenses, assignments, copyrights, patents and other intellectual property rights that are required by the Supplier to meet its obligations to the Local Government hereunder;
- ~~(i) The Services, including the software (and its functionality and applications), hardware and hosting solutions, firmware, processing capability and electronic interfaces required for the Services will interface, interoperate and be compatible with third party components used by the Local Government (as disclosed in the RFP), in the manner described in the Proposal;~~
- ~~(j) The Supplier’s information security processes and procedures, as well as supporting standards and operating directives shall at a minimum comply with Section 8, Information Security;~~

- ~~(k) — The Supplier owns or has secured all rights to intellectual property necessary for the Supplier to provide the Services and documentation to the Local Government as is contemplated under this Agreement;~~
- ~~(l) — Neither the Supplier nor any subcontractor has incorporated open source software code or applications within hosting solutions, software or electronic interfaces that may materially and adversely impact the delivery or use of the Services to the Local Government;~~
- ~~(m) — The hosting solutions, software applications, and electronic interfaces to enable access to and use of the Services do not (i) contain any malicious, disabling or defective code, viruses, Trojan horses, spyware, back doors, email bombs, worms or traps (collectively, “Malware”) or (ii) demonstrate any compatibility or interoperability problems that might cause the Services to become unavailable to the Local Government, damage or corrupt Confidential Information, Materials, Personal Information or Data, or interfere with the Local Government’s software applications, storage media, programs, equipment or communications;~~
- ~~(n) — In the event that the Supplier, a subcontractor or any third party introduces Malware into the hosting solutions, software applications, and electronic interfaces that enable access to and use of the Services, or causes a Data Breach, the Supplier will, acting in a timely manner, remedy the effects of the Malware or Data Breach (i) in accordance with applicable law and this Agreement, and as may be supplemented by industry standards in regard to security breaches, business continuity and disaster recovery plans, and (ii) in a manner that restores operational efficiency and safeguards Confidential Information, Materials, Data and Personal Information; and~~
- (o) The Supplier shall obtain and maintain required approvals, permits and licenses from the applicable governmental authorities to enable the provision of the Services to the Local Government as is contemplated under this Agreement.

15.2 The Supplier acknowledges and agrees that:

- ~~(a) — All Services that it or any subcontractor will supply and deliver to the Local Government comply with the technical, hardware and firmware requirements outlined in Schedule A, specifically including but not limited to: reporting requirements; scalability; SLA requirements; data storage and backup requirements; data security, data encryption and data transmission requirements;~~
- ~~(b) — It does not own the information submitted by the Local Government through the cloud-based software solution. The Local Government retains all right, title and interest in and to the Data. “Data” means all information, reports, personal information (including statistical and application information), research, spreadsheets, evaluations, feedback, assessments, logs, maps, databases, findings, graphics, images, artwork, icons, photographs, charts, text, documents, user-generated content, production content, software outputs, raw or processed data, media content, web pages, video, sound, digital material or statistics with the exception of Supplier internal data which is produced by the system and remains the property of the Supplier at all times that are (i) produced by, delivered~~

~~to or comes into the custody or control of, the Local Government as a result of the provision of the Services, or (ii) produced, collected or used by the Supplier for the Local Government's benefit in the provision of the Services;~~

- (c) It shall not in connection with providing the Services have access to or collect, use, disclose or otherwise process personal information (as defined in Schedule D) about identifiable individuals from the Local Government;
- (d) If during the Term or Renewal Term of this Agreement, it accesses or receives personal information or Data from the Local Government, the Supplier shall protect the personal information and Data by making security arrangements against risks of unauthorized access, collection, use, disclosure or disposal of the personal information or Data. In addition, the Supplier shall not use or disclose, store any personal information or Data outside Canada or permit access to any personal information or Data from outside Canada. As between the Parties, all personal information or Data supplied or generated by the Local Government is and shall at all times remain the exclusive property of the Local Government;
- (e) No personal information, Data or Confidential Information will be sold, shared, utilized or transferred by the Supplier;
- ~~(f) That it has and will maintain an established information security program compliant to a recognized cyber security standard equivalent to either ISO/IEC 27001, NIST SP 800-53, NIST CSF, or ISA 62443 standards and containing appropriate administrative, technical and physical measures to protect Client data. The Supplier shall also implement and enforce security arrangements that will ensure all personal information and Data that it may collect, use or have access to is protected at all times from unauthorized access or disclosure and shall provide written confirmation of its security arrangements to the Local Government upon request;~~
- (g) It will not acquire any rights (directly or indirectly) to use or own any personal information or Data other than the right to use it for the sole purpose of fulfilling its obligations to the Local Government under this Agreement;
- ~~(h) All processes that store or transmit personal information or Data are maintained in a secure environment and the environment and processes shall be compliant with the recognized cyber security standard employed. It will at its own cost ensure its systems and processes remain compliant with the standard;~~
- ~~(i) The locations of its data centers and servers are in Canada and the Supplier acknowledges and confirms that they shall remain in Canada;~~
- (j) If it becomes aware of a security breach or any other event that compromises the security, confidentiality or integrity of any Data, the Supplier shall take immediate action to contain, investigate and mitigate and notify the Local Government;
- ~~(k) No subcontractor of the Supplier will generate de-identified, aggregate data and the Supplier and/or a subcontractor shall not share any information that identifies the Local Government or any department or division of the Local Government with any third party. Neither the Supplier nor any subcontractor will attempt to disaggregate any data or re-associate it with the Local Government or any of its devices without the consent of the Local Government, unless compelled to do so~~

~~by court order or unless it is required for delivery of the Services (e.g. data and system security or troubleshooting and fixing fault purposes);~~

~~(l) In connection with the termination of all or any part of the Services, the Supplier shall cooperate with the Local Government and comply with the reasonable directions of the Local Government to effect the orderly transition and migration to the Local Government, or a third party designated by the Local Government (including an alternate service provider) from the Supplier of all such terminated Services and Data then being performed or provided by the Supplier or for which the Supplier is responsible for performing or providing under this Agreement. The Parties shall work together to develop a transition out plan, if requested by the Local Government; and~~

(m) Upon request from the Local Government, the Supplier shall return or destroy (and certify such destruction under the signature of an individual who can bind the corporation) any and all Data or Confidential Information of the Local Government unless retention of such information is required by law, regulation, court order.

15.3 The Parties agree that, except as expressly provided in this Agreement, there are no other warranties (express or implied) provided by the Supplier with respect to the performance of the Services, including the implied warranties of merchantability and fitness for a particular purpose.

16 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

16.1 The Supplier shall not permit an actual or potential conflict of interest to arise between its obligations to the Local Government under this Agreement and its obligations to any third party. The Supplier shall immediately notify the Local Government in writing if any such potential or actual conflict of interest should arise at any time during the Term or Renewal Term.

16.2 In this Agreement, conflict of interest means:

(a) The Supplier has an unfair advantage or engages in conduct, directly or indirectly, that may give it an unfair advantage, including but not limited to (i) having, or having access to, confidential information of the Local Government in the preparation of its Proposal that is not available to other proponents; (ii) communicating with any person with a view to influencing or obtaining preferred treatment (including, but not limited to, the lobbying of decision makers); or (iii) engaging in conduct that compromises or could be seen to compromise the integrity of the Agreement or provision of the Services or scope of work; or

(b) In relation to the performance of its contractual obligations contemplated in the Agreement that is the subject of this procurement, the Supplier's other commitments, relationships or financial interests (i) could or could be seen to, exercise an improper influence over the objective, unbiased and impartial exercise of its independent judgement; or (ii) could or could be seen to, compromise, impair or be incompatible with the effective performance of its contractual obligations.

17 ASSIGNMENT AND SUBCONTRACTING

17.1 The Supplier shall not assign this Agreement or any of its rights or obligations hereunder or subcontract the performance of any of the Services without the prior written consent of

the Local Government, which consent may be withheld by the Local Government in its sole discretion. Any purported assignment or subcontracting by the Supplier without such consent shall be of no force or effect.

- 17.2 The Local Government's consent to an assignment of this Agreement or the subcontracting of the performance of any of the Services to be provided by the Supplier hereunder, shall not relieve the Supplier from any of its obligations under this Agreement and the Supplier shall, notwithstanding any such consent by the Local Government, remain responsible for the performance of the Services and all other obligations of the Supplier set out herein.
- 17.3 Subject to Section 17.1, the Supplier shall only engage subcontractors or personnel that are qualified and competent to perform the Services under this Agreement in a timely, efficient and professional manner.
- 17.4 Subject to Section 17.1, the Supplier shall include in every agreement an obligation of its subcontractors to comply at all times with the confidentiality, protection and handling of personal information requirements of this Agreement including but not limited to Schedule D.
- 17.5 Subject to Section 17.1, the Supplier shall ensure that no approved subcontractor who cannot comply with the confidentiality, protection and handling of personal information requirements of this Agreement has any access, custody or use of any personal information or confidential information as defined under this Agreement.
- 17.6 The Supplier shall remain responsible to the Local Government for the Services under this Agreement including any Services performed by a subcontractor. Subject to Section 17.1, the Supplier may use subcontractors provided it remains responsible for such subcontractors and shall remain liable for the performance of the assigned or delegated obligations hereunder.

18 ACCOUNTS AND AUDIT

- 18.1 The Supplier shall keep proper and accurate books and records, including all invoices, receipts and vouchers, relating to the Services and all expenditures and commitments made in connection therewith. The Supplier shall make such books and records available to the Local Government for review or audit within ten (10) days following receipt of a request from the Local Government to do so. The Supplier agrees that it shall retain all such books and records and make them available for review or audit by the Local Government for a period of three (3) years after the date of final payment by the Local Government hereunder. Any review or audit by the Local Government pursuant to this Section 18.1 shall be carried out by the Local Government at the Local Government's expense.

19 GENERAL

- 19.1 **Local Government's Representative:** All references in this Agreement to the Local Government, include any person duly authorized to act on behalf of the Local Government thereunder.
- 19.2 **Sections, Headings and Interpretation:** The division of this Agreement into sections and the insertion of headings are for convenience of reference only and do not affect its interpretation. Except where the context requires otherwise, references to the terms

“herein,” “hereof,” “hereunder” and similar expressions refer to this Agreement as a whole, and not to any specific Section or Schedule.

- 19.3 **Time of the Essence:** Time shall be of the essence in this Agreement.
- 19.4 **Currency:** All dollar amounts referred to in this Agreement are Canadian dollars, unless expressly provided or stated otherwise.
- 19.5 **Severability / Partial Invalidity:** If any term or provision of this Agreement is held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be illegal, invalid or unenforceable, it shall be deemed to be severed from this Agreement, and the remaining terms and conditions shall nevertheless remain in full force and effect.
- 19.6 **Agreement and Amendments:** This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement and understanding between the Supplier and the Local Government with respect to the Services (and Goods), and supersedes all prior negotiations, communications and other agreements, whether written or oral, relating to the subject matter hereof. Any amendment or modification to this Agreement shall have no force or effect unless it is in writing and signed by duly authorized representatives of each of the Local Government and the Supplier.

The following documents form part of this Agreement:

- (a) this Agreement and
 - (b) the attached Schedules.
- 19.7 **Waiver:** No term or provision of this Agreement, and no breach of this Agreement by the Supplier, shall be deemed to be waived or excused by the Local Government unless such waiver is in writing and signed by the Local Government. The waiver by the Local Government of any breach of a term or provision of this Agreement shall not be or be deemed to be a waiver of any continuing or subsequent breach by the Supplier of the same or any other term or provision of this Agreement.
- 19.8 **Remedies Cumulative:** The rights and remedies of the Local Government set out in this Agreement are cumulative and are in addition to and not in substitution for any other rights or remedies available to the Local Government at law or in equity.
- 19.9 **Disputes:** If a dispute arises between the Local Government and the Supplier arising out of or relating to this Agreement, or the subject matter hereof, the Local Government and the Supplier agree that they shall each make all reasonable efforts to resolve any such dispute on a timely basis through amicable negotiations. Disputes shall promptly be referred by each Party to their respective senior management representatives who have the authority to resolve and settle any such disputes on their behalf. In the event that such representatives cannot resolve the dispute within ten (10) days or such longer period as the Parties may agree in writing, either Party may elect, upon giving prior written notice to the other Party, to resolve the matter through mediation or arbitration by a mutually acceptable mediator or arbitrator in accordance with the *Arbitration Act*, SNB, 2014, c. 100, as amended or litigation proceedings in the courts of the Province of New Brunswick. Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing in this Section 19.9 shall prevent the Local Government from exercising its rights of termination set out under this Agreement in the circumstances described therein. It is further agreed by the Parties that they shall pay their own costs of any mediation, arbitration or litigation.

- 19.10 **Enurement:** This Agreement shall enure to the benefit of and be binding on the Local Government and on the successors and permitted assigns of the Supplier.
- 19.11 **Notices:** Any notice to be given under this Agreement by the Local Government or the Supplier shall be in writing and delivered by hand, by email transmission or by registered mail, to the other Party at the address and to the attention of the contact individual indicated below:

To the Local Government:

The Office of the
City Clerk
397 Queen Street
Fredericton, NB E3B 1B5
cityclerk@fredericton.ca

To the Supplier:

Sacha Beaudoin
Vice President
420 3e Avenue
Levis, QC G6W 5M6
Sb.mluniforme.com

- A notice shall be deemed to be duly given and received upon delivery, if delivered by hand; upon receipt of the email transmission, if the transmission is received by the intended recipient prior to the recipient's close of business (and otherwise on the next business day of the recipient); or three (3) business days after posting, if sent by registered mail with a return receipt. Either Party may change its address or contact for receipt of notices, provided that such Party gives notice thereof in accordance with this Section 19.11 and confirms the effective date of the change in such notice.
- 19.12 **Counterparts:** This Agreement may be signed by the Local Government and the Supplier in one or more counterparts (in original or electronic form), each of which when signed and delivered will be deemed an original, but all of which together will constitute one and the same instrument; however, this Agreement will be of no force or effect until executed by all Parties. Executed signature pages delivered by facsimile or electronic mail will be deemed for all purposes to be original counterparts of this Agreement.
- 19.13 **Further Assurances:** The Supplier and the Local Government agree to execute and deliver all such further documents and instruments, and do or cause to be done all such acts and things, as either Party may reasonably consider necessary to evidence the intent and meaning of this Agreement.
- 19.14 **Words in the Singular:** Where the context so requires in this Agreement, words in the singular include the plural and vice versa.
- 19.15 **Contra Proferentem Rule Not Applicable:** Should any provision of this Agreement require judicial interpretation, mediation or arbitration, it is agreed that the court, mediator or arbitrator interpreting or construing the same shall not apply a presumption that the terms thereof shall be more strictly construed against one Party by reason of the rule of construction that a document is to be construed more strictly against the Party who itself or through its agent prepared the same, it is agreed that both Parties, directly or through their agents, have participated in the preparation hereof.
- 19.16 **Costs:** It is acknowledged that each Party shall pay his own costs, charges and expenses of and incidental to the preparation of this Agreement.
- 19.17 **Governing Law:** The Parties acknowledge and agree this Agreement shall be governed by, construed, interpreted and enforced in accordance with the laws of the Province of New Brunswick and any federal laws of Canada applicable therein. The Parties submit

**SCHEDULE A
SERVICES / SCOPE OF WORK**

This Schedule A incorporates the following documents:

- (1) Request for Proposal P22-16 for the Supply and Delivery of Uniforms and Clothing as attached hereto and forming a part hereof issued by the Local Government on June 3, 2022, which describes the Goods to be delivered by the Supplier to the Local Government;
- (2) Addendum #1, dated June 9, 2022; and
- (3) Addendum #2, dated June 30, 2022
- (3) Supplier's Proposal dated July 18, 2022, all as attached hereto and forming a part hereof.

As outlined in RFP P22-16, the Services shall include but will not be limited to the following:

Supply, on an as needed basis, uniforms, clothing, and footwear for its various Local Government Department/Divisions including but not limited to: Engineering & Operations Department and the Transit Division.

Delivery Schedule / Completion Date

The Supplier shall deliver the Services and/or Goods to the Local Government thirty (30) to sixty (60) days from the receipt of the order from the Local Government with all Phase 1 hardware to be installed with four (4) weeks of equipment being received.

SCHEDULE B

SUPPLEMENTARY EQUIPMENT PURCHASE AND MAINTENAGE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

1. Title & Documentation

- 1.1 The Supplier warrants that it has the right to transfer ownership of the Goods to the Local Government and that there are no liens, attachments, charges, encumbrances, or claims affecting the Goods. Once ownership passes to the Local Government, the Supplier shall, upon written request by the Local Government, and to the Local Government's satisfaction, establish that title to the Goods is free and clear of all liens, attachments, charges, encumbrances, or claims. If requested by the Local Government, the Supplier shall execute any transfer documents and take any other steps that are necessary to perfect the Local Government's title in the Goods.
- 1.2 ~~The Supplier must provide to the Local Government the same documentation and manuals that it provides to other purchasers of similar Goods or pass through any documentation or manuals made available by the manufacturer of any third-party equipment (collectively "**Goods Documentation**"), and must include all supplements and revisions to the Goods Documentation effective upon the delivery date. The Goods Documentation will include, to the extent Supplier is able to procure from third-party manufacturers, all documentation available to consumers from the manufacturer of the Goods about the technical specifications of the Goods and the firmware, installation requirements, and operating instructions, as well as details about the software program with which the Goods functions.~~
- 1.3 ~~The Supplier represents that the Goods Documentation it provides is sufficiently detailed to allow the Local Government to use and test all the Goods functions.~~
- 1.4 ~~The Supplier represents that the Goods Documentation is sufficiently detailed and clear to permit the Local Government, or its authorized agent, to maintain the Goods properly while under warranty, and to test it for that purpose, and, where applicable, conduct user-serviceable upgrade and repairs.~~
- 1.5 ~~The Supplier shall ensure that the Goods Documentation it provides is specific to the model, version, and revision of Goods in accordance with this Agreement and as set out in the Supplier Proposal.~~
- 1.6 ~~If there are changes to the Goods during the Term, or Renewal Term, the Supplier must update the Goods Documentation at no additional cost to the Local Government. The Supplier will use reasonable efforts to provide these updates within ten (10) days of the updates being made available by the manufacturer. If available from the manufacturer, the updates must include supporting documentation that identifies any problem resolved or enhancement made to the Goods, any new feature(s) added, and any necessary installation instructions.~~
- 1.7 ~~Despite anything in this Agreement regarding copyright, the copyright in the Goods Documentation will not be owned or transferred to the Local Government. However, the Local Government has the right to use the Goods Documentation and may, for its own internal purposes, copy it for use by the Local Government or Local Government Affiliates, as long as the Local Government includes any copyright and proprietary right notices that are part of the original document.~~

2.0 Goods Must be New

- 2.1 All Goods supplied by the Supplier, excepting Goods supplied in accordance with Section 8.4 of this Schedule B, must be new and unused.
- 2.2 The Goods must also:
- (a) be off-the-shelf, ~~meaning it must be composed of standard equipment requiring no further research or development;~~
 - (b) be a model that is still in production by the manufacturer at the time of delivery; and
 - (c) ~~conform to the version of the applicable specification or part number of the manufacturer in effect at the time of delivery for the purposes of replacements or expansion for the Term, or Renewal Term, of this Agreement; in the alternative, the Supplier will ensure substitute components are integrated into the solution should these components be discontinued or if the specific parts are not available, Supplier shall make alternatives available to conform to the Specifications, meaning the written description of the Services or Goods functional attributes and performance capabilities that are set out as requirements in the RFP, or as the same may be amended or supplemented in the Supplier Proposal, available to the Local Government, which may be at additional cost.~~

3.0 Delivery

- 3.1 ~~Unless otherwise specified by the Local Government in writing, the Supplier shall contact the Local Government's representative at least twenty-four (24) hours prior to the delivery of the Goods. Failure to contact the Local Government may result in the delivery being refused. Any re-shipping costs or delays will be the sole responsibility of the Supplier.~~
- 3.2 In accordance with the applicable timeframes outlined by the Local Government and on an as needed basis, the Supplier shall deliver the ~~equipment~~/Goods to the attention of Carson Hagerman with the Local Government at 311 Queen Street Fredericton, New Brunswick, E3B 1B1 and/or to the location of installation arranged previously with the Project manager.
- 3.3 All deliveries will be shipped, and the all associated costs shall be paid by the Supplier, FOB Destination or to the Supplier's local or regional office and will include freight, delivery, duty paid, insurance, packaging, crating, and unloading costs. Supplier must, at minimum, package the shipment per industry standards and arrange for any rigging and drayage necessary to deliver the Goods. Suppliers are responsible to ensure all deliveries are sent by authorized carriers and are compliant to all provincial or federal regulations governing the transport of goods, materials, and supplies. In addition, delivery from FOB Destination to final Local Government location for installation shall be paid by the Supplier. The Local Government is responsible for providing storage from time of delivery to time of installation and for all storage costs.

~~**4.0 Installation & Unit Testing**~~

- ~~4.1 The Local Government will receive Goods. The Supplier shall unpack, assemble, install, link, integrate, interconnect, program, and configure all Goods in accordance with any installation checklists or procedures outlined in the RFP, Supplier Proposal or manufacturer specifications. The Local Government will communicate any installation constraints to the Supplier. The Supplier~~

~~shall provide all required installation resources and supply all materials required to complete the installation of the Goods, so that it once it is installed it is ready for inspection and testing (both as a unit and as part of a system).~~

~~4.2 As part of completing the installation, the Supplier will test the functionality of the Goods.~~

~~4.3 Any Goods that do not function in accordance with the Specifications and Goods Documentation at the time of installation shall be declared defective and shall be replaced with new Goods by the Supplier in accordance with Section 5 of this Schedule B.~~

5.0 Initial Inspection and Initial Acceptance

5.1 All delivered shipments of ~~equipment, Goods or hardware~~ will be made available for the Local Government's inspection, notwithstanding any prior payment.

5.2 The Local Government shall have twenty (20) business days to (i) inspect the ~~Goods or hardware~~ for visible damage, and (ii) test that the ~~Goods or hardware~~ are functioning in accordance with the Specifications and Goods Documentation, and (iii) provide the Supplier with written notice of any damage or functional defect ("Notice of Defect"). If the Local Government does not provide the Supplier with a Notice of Defect within the prescribed time-period, the installation and testing of the Goods or hardware will be deemed to have been accepted by the Local Government.

5.3 On receipt of a Notice of Defect from the Local Government, the Supplier shall, without being relieved of its obligations under this Agreement and without a right to receive additional payment, repair or replace the defective ~~equipment, Goods or hardware~~. The decision to repair or replace shall be within Supplier's reasonable determination as to what remedial action is required to comply with this Agreement. For greater certainty, all costs and delays related to the repair or replacement of ~~equipment/Goods~~ arising out of a Notice of Defect shall be the sole responsibility of the Supplier.

5.4 The Supplier is responsible for loss or damage to Goods or hardware caused by the Supplier's or its subcontractor's negligence.

5.5 Upon delivery of the ~~equipment, Goods or hardware~~ the Local Government is responsible for loss or damage to the equipment, Goods or hardware unless caused by the Supplier's negligence until such time as the final testing and final acceptance is completed by the Local Government as per Section 6.0 of this Schedule.

6.0 Final System Testing and Final Acceptance

6.1 Upon the ~~successful installation, and~~ acceptance as per Section 5.1 and 5.2 of this Schedule, of all ~~equipment, Goods or hardware~~, the Local Government will have thirty (30) business days to test that the ~~equipment, Goods or hardware~~ are functioning ~~within a production environment and~~ in a manner that accords with the Specifications and ~~Goods Documentation~~. During this period, and for five (5) business days following the end of this period, the Local Government may provide written notice to the Supplier of any (i) deficiencies with the ~~equipment, Goods or hardware~~, or the Services, or (ii) other variances from Specifications and ~~Goods Documentation~~. The Supplier shall remedy any such deficiencies or variances within fifteen (15) business days of receiving written notice thereof.

~~6.2 The Local Government will then have ten (10) business days to conduct further system testing; and during this period, and for two (2) Business Days following the end of this period, the Local Government may provide the Supplier with written notice of any further deficiencies or variances. Where such notice is provided, the Supplier shall remedy any such deficiencies or variances within fifteen (15) business days.~~

~~6.3 Any further testing by the Local Government or correction of deficiencies or variances by the Supplier shall proceed in accordance with Section 6.2 of this Schedule.~~

6.4 At no cost to the Local Government, the Supplier shall remedy (i) any deficiencies with the equipment/Goods ~~(including its intended functioning within a production environment)~~, or (ii) other variances from Specifications and Goods Documentation, where such deficiencies or variances are discovered during system testing. The Supplier shall document all deficiencies and variances, any remedial actions taken in respect thereof, and the Local Government's acknowledgement of a fix.

6.5 If system testing is completed and the Local Government has not disclosed any deficiencies or variances to the Supplier, or if the Supplier has remedied the deficiencies or variances of which it has notice, final acceptance of the Goods ~~(including its intended functioning within the Services' production environment)~~ shall be deemed to have occurred ("System Acceptance").

7.0 Transfer of Ownership

7.1 Title to Goods will pass to the Local Government upon delivery to and acceptance by the Local Government.

7.2 Transfer of title for the Goods does not relieve the Supplier of its obligation to perform the Services in accordance with the Agreement, nor will it result in acceptance of the Goods ~~or its functioning within a production environment~~ until there is System Acceptance.

7.3 The Supplier shall be responsible for loss or damage to any part of the Goods caused by or contributed to by the negligence of Supplier (or its sub-Supplier or any person for whom it is responsible) until there is Final System Acceptance.

8.0 Goods Warranty & Maintenance

8.1 Notwithstanding any other agreement, the Supplier warrants that the equipment, Goods ~~or hardware~~ is fit for its intended purposes as outlined in this Agreement, ~~and against defects in materials and workmanship for a period no less than one (1) years from the date of System Acceptance.~~

~~In respect of any equipment, Goods or hardware that is provided by the Supplier to the Local Government after System Acceptance, the warranty periods detailed above (including any extended parts warranty, if selected and paid for by Local Government) for that equipment/Goods or hardware shall apply from the date of installation of that equipment, Goods or hardware.~~

~~8.2 The Supplier shall provide and manage all warranty activities for equipment, Goods or hardware and manage such warranty activities for subsequent equipment, Goods or hardware purchased through the Supplier that is provided to the Local Government under this Agreement.~~

~~8.3 — In the event the Local Government has identified a defect with any equipment, Goods or hardware (i.e., not functioning as designed), the Local Government shall contact the Supplier and request a return materials authorization (RMA) number from the Supplier prior to shipping the equipment, Goods or hardware to the Supplier for inspection. Goods shipped to the Supplier without a clearly identified RMA number may be refused and returned at the Local Government's expense.—~~

~~8.4 — Equipment, Goods or hardware that becomes defective during the warranty period and is returned to the Supplier will be tested to verify for possible defects. Upon verification of a defect covered under warranty, the Supplier, at its option and at no charge to the Local Government, shall either repair the equipment, Goods or hardware (with new or reconditioned parts) or replace it with the same or equivalent equipment, Goods or hardware (using new or reconditioned Goods), provided the Local Government must notify the Supplier of the defect during the warranty period or within thirty (30) days of the expiration of the warranty period. Upon repair or replacement, all defective Goods components shall become the property of the Supplier.—~~

~~8.5 — Notwithstanding subsection 8.3 and 8.4, if a defect in workmanship or materials in equipment, Goods or hardware covered by a warranty in this Agreement is discovered within sixty (60) days of the date of installation of the Goods, and if the Local Government requests advance replacement of such product, the Supplier will replace such equipment, Goods or hardware in advance of return of such product by the Local Government to the Supplier; provided that where the Local Government has not returned the defective equipment Goods or hardware to the Supplier within sixty (60) days of shipment by the Supplier of the advance replacement, then the Supplier will invoice the Local Government for the purchase price of the advance replacement product including shipping costs and any taxes, duties or other charges related to the advance replacement and the Local Government shall pay the Supplier the amount invoiced within thirty (30) days of receipt of invoice.—~~

~~8.6 — The Goods warranty does not cover:—~~

- ~~(a) defects or damage from misuse, vandalism, accident or neglect;—~~
- ~~(b) defects or damage from improper testing, operation, maintenance, installation, alteration, modification, or adjustment;—~~
- ~~(c) defects or damage from unauthorized modifications, disassembles or repairs;—~~
- ~~(d) defects or damage to Goods that has had the serial number removed or made illegible;—~~
- ~~(e) Goods that does not function in accordance with the Specifications or Goods Documentation due to illegal or unauthorized alteration of the software or firmware in the Goods or hardware;—~~
- ~~(f) scratches or other cosmetic damage to the surface of the Goods that does not affect the normal operation of the Goods; or—~~
- ~~(g) normal wear and tear.—~~

~~8.7 — If equipment, Goods or hardware returned under this warranty is found to be in good working order (also known as “no fault found”), such equipment/Goods will be returned to the Local Government in the same condition as it was received by the Supplier at reasonable cost to the Local Government (i.e. standard/customer-wide stocking charge and return postage fee).— If equipment, Goods or hardware returned under this warranty or otherwise sent to the Supplier is found not to be in good working order but the defect is not covered by warranty, and if repair or~~

~~replacement is nevertheless requested by the Local Government, the Supplier will be reimbursed for time and materials (i.e., parts at cost, standard/customer-wide labour rates and return postage fee) resulting from the repair or replacement.~~

8.8 If the Supplier repairs or replaces any ~~equipment, Goods or hardware~~, the Supplier warrants that such Goods is fit for its intended purposes as outlined in this Agreement and against defects in materials and workmanship for a period of ninety (90) days from the date of shipment of such repaired ~~equipment, Goods or hardware~~ to the Local Government by the Supplier (provided that the Local Government notifies the Supplier of such defects within thirty (30) day of the appearance or discovery of such defects), or for the remainder of the applicable warranty under this Agreement as calculated from the date of shipment, whichever is longer.

8.9 THIS WARRANTY IS EXCLUSIVE AND IN LIEU OF ALL OTHER REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES, GUARANTEES AND CONDITIONS, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, STATUTORY OR OTHERWISE, UNLESS OTHERWISE PROVIDED FOR IN THIS AGREEMENT; AND WITHOUT LIMITING THE GENERALITY OF THE FOREGOING, THE SUPPLIER EXPRESSLY DISCLAIMS AND EXCLUDES ANY IMPLIED WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY, DURABILITY, OR FITNESS FOR PURPOSE AND ANY WARRANTIES OR MODIFIED WARRANTIES ARISING FROM USAGE OF TRADE OR COURSE OF DEALING.

~~9.0 User-Serviceable Goods~~

~~-~~

9.1 ~~The Supplier agrees that the Local Government's staff may, after having received proper training from the Supplier perform user-serviceable maintenance, upgrades, and/or repairs to the equipment, Goods or hardware without affecting any warranty or guarantee provided by the Supplier herein.~~

~~10.0 Firmware~~

~~-~~

10.1 ~~The Supplier must deliver the equipment, Goods or hardware equipped with all the firmware required to use all the Goods or hardware's functions. Any software embedded in the equipment, Goods or hardware, including the firmware, is provided to the Local Government with a license to use this software, with all license costs and royalties being included in the Fees. All firmware will be the most recent version available at the time of shipping.~~

11. Quantities and Pricing

11.1 All costs associated with the Services or Goods described in this Schedule are included in the Fee Schedule being Schedule C.

11.2 The Local Government shall purchase the ~~equipment, Goods or hardware~~ at the quantities and the price as laid out in Schedule C – Fees.

11.3 During the Term, or Renewal Term, the Local Government may purchase additional Goods (or functionally equivalent Goods, ~~including spare parts~~) at the same unit price outlined in Schedule C with an adjustment equal to the percentage increase in annual Consumer Price Index as published by Statistics Canada. Such Goods shall be transferred to the Local Government subject to the warranties outlined in this Agreement.

SCHEDULE C FEE SCHEDULE

The fees associated with providing the Services, on an as needed basis, which includes the provision of uniforms, clothing, and footwear for various department/divisions of the Local Government including but not limited to: Engineering & Operations Department and the Transit Division.

All costs related to the scope of work have been included in the price schedule as outlined below:

<u>Item</u>	<u>Brand</u>	<u>Style</u>	<u>SKU</u>	<u>Colours</u>	<u>Unit Price</u>	<u>Special Price for Certain Sizes</u>	<u>Price Including Embroidery/Silk Screening</u>
Shirts							
Stryke PDU Rapid Long Sleeve Shirt	Blauer	Polyester StreetShirt	U8371/U8371W	Dark navy, black, white	\$ 82.90	All items 3XL+: 30% surcharge	Embroidery for all items: 4.90
Stryke PDU Rapid Short Sleeve Shirt	Blauer	Polyester StreetShirt	U8372/U8372W	Dark navy, black, white	\$ 76.90		Silk screening: to be determined depending on the logo and the quantities
Ladies Stryke Short Sleeve Uniform Shirt	Blauer	Ripstop B.DU shirt	U8741W	Dark navy, black	\$ 107.90		Crest application for all items: no charge
Mens Stryke Short Sleeve Uniform Shirt	Blauer	Ripstop B.DU shirt	U8741	Dark navy, black	\$ 107.90		Hemming for all trousers: no charge
Ladies Stryke Long Sleeve Uniform Shirt	Blauer	Ripstop B.DU shirt	U8731W	Dark navy, black	\$ 117.90		Reflective lettering on back of jacket/shirt (direct application): 16.90
Mens Stryke Long Sleeve Uniform Shirt	Blauer	Ripstop B.DU shirt	U8731	Dark navy, black	\$ 117.90		Reflective lettering on front of jacket/shirt (direct application): 7.90
Ladies Light Weight Polo Shirt - OPTION 1	Blauer	Polyester with mesh sides	8139W	Dark navy, white	\$ 31.90		Reflective lettering on back of jacket/shirt (on panel): 21.90
Mens Light Weight Polo Shirt - OPTION 1	Blauer	Polyester with mesh sides	8139	Dark navy, white	\$ 31.90		Reflective lettering on front of jacket/shirt (on panel): 10.90
Ladies Light Weight Polo Shirt - OPTION 2	Blauer	Polyester with mesh sides & pocket	8139WP	Dark navy, white, royal blue	\$ 34.90		Mic tab on all items: 3.50
Mens Light Weight Polo Shirt - OPTION 2	Blauer	Polyester with mesh sides & pocket	8139P	Dark navy, white, royal blue	\$ 34.90		Name tab on all items: 3.50
Unisex Light Weight Polo	Blauer	Polyester military style	8160	Dark navy	\$ 69.90		

<u>Item</u>	<u>Brand</u>	<u>Style</u>	<u>SKU</u>	<u>Colours</u>	<u>Unit Price</u>	<u>Special Price for Certain Sizes</u>	<u>Price Including Embroidery/Silk Screening</u>
Shirt - OPTION 3							
Unisex Light Weight Polo Shirt - long sleeves - OPTION 3	Blauer	Polyester military style	8165	Dark navy	\$ 76.90		
Unisex Light Weight Polo Shirt - OPTION 4	Blauer	Coolmax military style	8130	Dark navy	\$ 78.90		
Ladies Light Weight Polo Shirt - OPTION 5	Blauer	Polyester with mesh sides	U8134W	Dark navy, black, grey	\$ 81.90		
Mens Light Weight Polo Shirt - OPTION 5	Blauer	Polyester with mesh sides	U8134	Dark navy, black, grey	\$ 81.90		
Ladies Light Weight Polo Shirt - long sleeves - OPTION 5	Blauer	Polyester with mesh sides	U8144W	Dark navy, black, grey	\$ 91.90		
Mens Light Weight Polo Shirt - long sleeves - OPTION 5	Blauer	Polyester with mesh sides	U8144	Dark navy, black, grey	\$ 91.90		
Unisex Crew Neck Short Sleeve Tee Shirt - OPTION 1	M&L Collection	Poly cotton	GP5100	Dark navy	\$ 13.90		
Unisex Crew Neck Short Sleeve Tee Shirt - OPTION 2	Blauer	3XDRY	8120X	Dark navy, white, black	\$ 34.90		
Unisex Crew Neck Short Sleeve Tee Shirt - OPTION 3	Blauer	Quickdry compression shirt	8170	Black	\$ 32.90		
Unisex Crew Neck Short Sleeve Tee Shirt - OPTION 4	Gildan	Poly cotton	GP4000	White, sports grey, black, royal blue, navy	\$ 13.90		
Unisex Mock Neck Short Sleeve Shirt - OPTION 1	Blauer	3XDRY	8115X	Dark navy	\$ 35.90		
Unisex Mock Neck Short	M&L Collection	Poly cotton	GP5200	Dark navy	\$ 18.90		

<u>Item</u>	<u>Brand</u>	<u>Style</u>	<u>SKU</u>	<u>Colours</u>	<u>Unit Price</u>	<u>Special Price for Certain Sizes</u>	<u>Price Including Embroidery/Silk Screening</u>
Sleeve Shirt - OPTION 2							
Unisex Crew Neck Long Sleeve Tee Shirt	Gildan	Poly cotton	GP8400	White, sports grey, black, royal blue, navy	\$ 14.90		
Unisex Mock Neck Long Sleeve Shirt	Blauer	3XDRY	8110X	Dark navy	\$ 36.90		
Unisex Mock Neck Long Sleeve Shirt - OPTION 1	Blauer	Quickheat	8175	Dark navy	\$ 37.90		
Unisex Mock Neck Long Sleeve Shirt - OPTION 2	M&L Collection	Poly cotton	GP5300	Dark navy	\$ 20.90		
Female Shirt - short sleeves - OPTION 1	Blauer	Poly rayon military style	8910XW/8911XW	Dark navy, white	\$ 64.90		
Female Shirt - long sleeves - OPTION 1	Blauer	Poly rayon military style	8903XW/8900XW	Dark navy, white	\$ 68.90		
Female Shirt - short sleeves - OPTION 2	M&L Collection	Poly cotton military style	SR2725/SRE2525	Dark navy, white	\$ 33.90		
Female Shirt - long sleeves - OPTION 2	M&L Collection	Poly cotton military style	SR2625/SRE2425	Dark navy, white	\$ 34.90		
Male Shirt - short sleeves - OPTION 1	Blauer	Poly rayon military style	8910X/8911X	Dark navy, white	\$ 64.90		
Male Shirt - long sleeves - OPTION 1	Blauer	Poly rayon military style	8903X/8900X	Dark navy, white	\$ 68.90		
Male Shirt - short sleeves - OPTION 2	M&L Collection	Poly cotton military style	SR1725/SRE1525	Dark navy, white	\$ 33.90		
Male Shirt - long sleeves - OPTION 2	M&L Collection	Poly cotton military style	SR1625/SRE1425	Dark navy, white	\$ 34.90		
Male Short Sleeve Golf Shirt	M&L Collection	B.Cool	GB2000	Dark navy, white, royal blue, French blue, black, medium blue, grey	\$ 49.90		
Female Short Sleeve Golf Shirt	M&L Collection	B.Cool	GB2000F	Dark navy, white, royal blue, French blue, black, medium blue, grey	\$ 49.90		

<u>Item</u>	<u>Brand</u>	<u>Style</u>	<u>SKU</u>	<u>Colours</u>	<u>Unit Price</u>	<u>Special Price for Certain Sizes</u>	<u>Price Including Embroidery/Silk Screening</u>
Male Long Sleeve Golf Shirt	M&L Collection	B.Cool	GB2100	Dark navy, white, royal blue, French blue, black, medium blue, grey	\$ 51.90		
Female Long Sleeve Golf Shirt	M&L Collection	B.Cool	GB2100F	Dark navy, white, royal blue, French blue, black, medium blue, grey	\$ 51.90		
ADDING EPAULETS ONTO GOLF SHIRTS					\$ 8.90		
ADDING POCKET ONTO GOLF SHIRTS					\$ 3.90		
Male Short Sleeve Dress Shirts - OPTION 1	M&L Collection	Poly cotton	SP1900/SP1901	Light blue, medium blue, white	\$ 31.90		
Female Short Sleeve Dress Shirts - OPTION 1	M&L Collection	Poly cotton	SP2900/SP2901	Light blue, medium blue, white	\$ 31.90		
Male Long Sleeve Dress Shirts - OPTION 1	M&L Collection	Poly cotton	SP1800/SP1801	Light blue, medium blue, white	\$ 30.90		
Female Long Sleeve Dress Shirts - OPTION 1	M&L Collection	Poly cotton	SP2800/SP2801	Light blue, medium blue, white	\$ 30.90		
Male Short Sleeve Dress Shirts - OPTION 2	M&L Collection	Poly cotton	SP2936	French blue	\$ 32.90		
Female Short Sleeve Dress Shirts - OPTION 2	M&L Collection	Poly cotton	SP1936	French blue	\$ 32.90		
Male Long Sleeve Dress Shirts - OPTION 2	M&L Collection	Poly cotton	SP2836	French blue	\$ 31.90		
Female Long Sleeve Dress Shirts - OPTION 2	M&L Collection	Poly cotton	SP1836	French blue	\$ 31.90		
Pants & Shorts							

<u>Item</u>	<u>Brand</u>	<u>Style</u>	<u>SKU</u>	<u>Colours</u>	<u>Unit Price</u>	<u>Special Price for Certain Sizes</u>	<u>Price Including Embroidery/Silk Screening</u>
Ladies Flex-Tac Stryke Pant With Red Stripe	Blauer	Nylon/spande x 4-way stretch	8823W	Black, dark navy	\$ 114.90	Without stripe: 92.90	
Mens Flex-Tac Stryke Pant With Red Stripe	Blauer	Nylon/spande x 4-way stretch	8823	Black, dark navy	\$ 114.90	Without stripe: 92.90	
Ladies Stryke Pants With Red Stripe	Blauer	Nylon/spande x 4-way stretch	8823W	Black, dark navy	\$ 114.90	Without stripe: 92.90	
Mens Stryke Pants With Red Stripe	Blauer	Nylon/spande x 4-way stretch	8823	Black, dark navy	\$ 114.90	Without stripe: 92.90	
Ladies Stryke Pants - OPTION 1	M&L Collection	Poly cotton	8863XSW-FW	Black	\$ 94.90		
Ladies Stryke Pants - OPTION 1	M&L Collection	Poly cotton	8863XSW-FW	Dark navy	\$ 77.90		
Ladies Stryke Pants - OPTION 2	M&L Collection	Poly cotton ripstop	MLU-216	Dark navy	\$ 87.90		
Ladies Stryke Pants - OPTION 3	M&L Collection	Polyester	PTS5363W-FW	Black	\$ 92.90		
Ladies Stryke Pants - OPTION 3	M&L Collection	Polyester	PTS5363W-FW	Dark navy	\$ 51.90		
Mens Stryke Pants - OPTION 1	M&L Collection	Poly cotton	8810XS-FW	Black	\$ 77.90		
Mens Stryke Pants - OPTION 1	M&L Collection	Poly cotton	8810XS-FW	Dark navy	\$ 77.90		
Mens Stryke Pants - OPTION 2	M&L Collection	Poly cotton ripstop	MLU-116	Dark navy	\$ 87.90		
Mens Stryke Pants - OPTION 3	M&L Collection	Polyester	PTS5305-FW	Black, dark navy	\$ 51.90		
ADDING RED STRIPE ONTO ALL CARGO PANTS STYLES					\$ 21.90		
Ladies Light Weight Tactical Shorts - OPTION 1	Blauer	Nylon/spande x 4-way stretch	8843W	Black, dark navy	\$ 92.90		
Mens Light Weight Tactical Shorts - OPTION 1	Blauer	Nylon/spande x 4-way stretch	8843	Black, dark navy	\$ 92.90		
Ladies Light Weight	M&L Collection	Poly cotton	8840XS-FW	Dark navy	\$ 77.90		

<u>Item</u>	<u>Brand</u>	<u>Style</u>	<u>SKU</u>	<u>Colours</u>	<u>Unit Price</u>	<u>Special Price for Certain Sizes</u>	<u>Price Including Embroidery/Silk Screening</u>
Tactical Shorts - OPTION 2							
Mens Light Weight Tactical Shorts - OPTION 2	M&L Collection	Poly cotton	8860XSW-FW	Dark navy	\$ 77.90		
Ladies Light Weight Tactical Shorts - OPTION 3	M&L Collection	Poly cotton ripstop	MLU-216B	Dark navy	\$ 87.90		
Mens Light Weight Tactical Shorts - OPTION 3	M&L Collection	Poly cotton ripstop	MLU116-B	Dark navy	\$ 87.90		
Ladies Light Weight Tactical Shorts - OPTION 4	M&L Collection	Polyester	RTS5363W-FW	Dark navy	\$ 52.90		
Mens Light Weight Tactical Shorts - OPTION 4	M&L Collection	Polyester	RTS5340-FW	Dark navy	\$ 52.90		
Unisex Tactical Cargo Pants	Not quoting						
Kinetic Pants	Not quoting						
Unisex Cargo Trousers	Not quoting						
Jackets & Vests							
Ladies Fleece Jacket	Blauer	Fleece with nylon ripstop reinforcement s	4650W	Dark navy	\$ 96.90		
Mens Fleece Jacket	Blauer	Fleece with nylon ripstop reinforcement s	4650	Dark navy	\$ 96.90		
Ladies Fleece Vest	M&L Collection	Unisex DWR nylon with microfleece backing	WN1000	Navy	\$ 57.90		
Mens Fleece Vest	M&L Collection	Unisex DWR nylon with microfleece backing	WN1000	Navy	\$ 57.90		
Ladies 1/4 Zip Pullover Sweater	Blauer	Unisex, cotton/polyester	4630X	Navy	\$ 74.90		
Mens 1/4 Zip Pullover Sweater	Blauer	Unisex, cotton/polyester	4630X	Navy	\$ 74.90		

<u>Item</u>	<u>Brand</u>	<u>Style</u>	<u>SKU</u>	<u>Colours</u>	<u>Unit Price</u>	<u>Special Price for Certain Sizes</u>	<u>Price Including Embroidery/Silk Screening</u>
Ladies Pullover Sweater	Gildan	Unisex, cotton/polyester	GP3000	White, sports grey, black, royal blue, navy	\$ 23.90		
Mens Pullover Sweater	Gildan	Unisex, cotton/polyester	GP3000	White, sports grey, black, royal blue, navy	\$ 23.90		
Zipup 4012 XS -XL - OPTION 1	Cobmex	Acrylic crew neck zip front commando style	KQ4012	Navy, Black	\$ 74.90		
Zipup 4012 XS -XL - OPTION 2	Blauer	Acrylic/wool crew neck zip front commando style	207	Dark navy, black	\$ 99.90		
Zipup 4012 XS -XL - OPTION 3	Blauer	Acrylic/wool/polyester w/fleece backing crew neck zip front commando style	227	Dark navy	\$ 102.90		
Pullover 2825 XS -XL - OPTION 1	Cobmex	Acrylic V neck commando style	KQ1625	Navy, Black	\$ 63.90		
Pullover 2825 XS -XL - OPTION 2	Blauer	Acrylic/wool V neck commando style	205	Dark navy	\$ 68.90		
Pullover 2825 XS -XL - OPTION 2	Blauer	Acrylic/wool V neck commando style	205	Black	\$ 92.90		
Pullover 2825 XS -XL - OPTION 3	Blauer	Acrylic/wool/polyester with fleece backing V neck commando style	505	Dark navy	\$ 96.90		
Pullover 2825 XS -XL - OPTION 3	Blauer	Acrylic/wool/polyester with fleece backing V neck commando style	505	Black	\$ 114.90		
Unisex Winter Coat - OPTION 1	Blauer	3 in 1 B.Dry with fleece liner	6820Z	Dark navy	\$ 256.90		
Ladies Winter Coat - OPTION 2	Blauer	3 in 1 Gore-Tex with softshell liner	9840ZW	Dark navy	\$ 399.90		

<u>Item</u>	<u>Brand</u>	<u>Style</u>	<u>SKU</u>	<u>Colours</u>	<u>Unit Price</u>	<u>Special Price for Certain Sizes</u>	<u>Price Including Embroidery/Silk Screening</u>
Mens Winter Coat - OPTION 2	Blauer	3 in 1 Gore-Tex with softshell liner	9840ZW	Dark navy	\$ 399.90		
Unisex Winter Coat - OPTION 3	Blauer	3 in 1 3 ply Gore-Tex with softshell liner	9500Z	Dark navy	\$ 634.90		
Winter Jackets w/ High Visibility Stripes - Outer shell	Blauer	CSA B.Dry outer jacket	9841ECSA	Hi-vis yellow/dark navy	\$ 233.90		
Winter Jackets w/ High Visibility Stripes - Inner liner	Blauer	CSA softshell stand-alone jacket	4671ECSA	Hi-vis yellow/dark navy	\$ 154.90		
Waterproof Winter/Spring Jackets - OPTION 1	M&L Collection	Unisex DWR nylon with microfleece backing	WN2000	Navy	\$ 66.90		
Ladies Waterproof Winter/Spring Jackets - OPTION 2	Blauer	Softshell	4501W	Dark navy	\$ 153.90		
Mens Waterproof Winter/Spring Jackets - OPTION 2	Blauer	Softshell	4501	Dark navy	\$ 153.90		
ADDING EPAULETS ONTO SWEATERS AND JACKETS					\$ 9.90		
Boots							
Quest 4D GTX Forces Boot	Not quoting			Black			
Tundra Forces CSWP	Not quoting			Black			
Z-6N GTX	Not quoting			Black			
Z-8N GTX	Not quoting			Black			
R-8 GTX Thermo TF	Not quoting			Black			
Black Eagle Athletic 2.0 High Side Zip	Not quoting			Black			
Leather & 1860D Nylon 8" Tactical Boots, ultra light	Not quoting			Black			

<u>Item</u>	<u>Brand</u>	<u>Style</u>	<u>SKU</u>	<u>Colours</u>	<u>Unit Price</u>	<u>Special Price for Certain Sizes</u>	<u>Price Including Embroidery/Silk Screening</u>
Jet 30707				Black			
Miscellaneous							
Jackets (Transit, 508) - OPTION 1	M&L Collection	3 in 1 DWR nylon with fleece liner	ZN4000	Navy	\$ 106.90		
Jackets (Transit, 508) - OPTION 2	M&L Collection	Super taslan with honeycomb breathable coating	ZN5090	Navy	\$ 205.90		
Toque - OPTION 1	AJM	Acrylic with or without cuff	CQ1200/CQ1201	Dark navy, black	\$ 10.50		
Toque - OPTION 2	Blauer	Acrylic/wool watch cap with cuff	125	Dark navy	\$ 18.90		
Toque - OPTION 3	Blauer	Acrylic/wool/polyester with fleece backing, no cuff	160/160-1	Dark navy	\$ 21.90		
Toque - OPTION 3	Blauer	Acrylic/wool/polyester with fleece backing, no cuff	160/160-1	Black	\$ 21.90		
Ball cap - OPTION 1	AJM	Poly cotton	CQ5470X	Dark navy, black	\$ 10.90		
Ball cap - OPTION 2	Blauer	Polyester/spandex blend	182/182-1	Dark navy	\$ 20.90		
Coveralls with Reflective features	Big K	Poly cotton with zipper	BK1701	Orange	\$ 94.90		
Rainsuit with Reflective Features	Big K	Polyester, breathable with sealed seams	BK802+BK804	Orange	\$ 118.90		

The Supplier acknowledges and agrees that all prices or rates quoted include **ALL** charges including but not limited to labour, travel, time, parking fees, vehicle/truck, fuel surcharge, or any other ancillary cost involved for the items to be delivered.

Pricing shall be firm for the Agreement.

Pricing is to be adjusted annually based on the Consumer Price Index as published in October of the previous year as set by Statistics Canada, ("CPI").

Additional Work

~~For additional work not covered under this Agreement the hourly rate shall include all charges including but not limited to shop supplies, tools, fuel, truck, travelling and accommodation charges, etc. The Local Government would only be charged and shall only pay for the time spent by the Supplier on site. (i.e. travel time from another location or jurisdiction and/or mileage shall not be charged to the Local~~

SCHEDULE D

PRIVACY PROTECTION SCHEDULE

Purpose

1. The purpose of this Schedule is to:

- (a) enable the Local Government to comply with the Local Government's statutory obligations under the RTIPPA with respect to personal information that is collected, retained, used, or disclosed as a result of the provision of the Services;
- (b) ensure that, as a service provider, the Supplier is aware of the obligations under the applicable legislation with respect to personal information that is collected, retained, used or disclosed as a result of the provision of the Services; and
- (c) "Personal Information" or "personal information" means recorded information about an identifiable individual that comes into the custody or under the control of the Supplier as a result of the provision of the Services and has the meaning given in the RTIPPA (SNB 2009, c. R-10.6, as amended)

Under Section 1 of RTIPPA, definitions "personal information" means recorded information about an identifiable individual, including but not limited (a) the individual's name, (b) the individual's home address or electronic mail address or home telephone or facsimile number, (c) information about the individual's age, gender, sexual orientation, marital status or family status, (d) information about the individual's ancestry, race, colour, nationality or national or ethnic origin, (e) information about the individual's religion or creed or religious belief, association or activity, (f) personal health information about the individual, (g) the individual's blood type, fingerprints or other hereditary characteristics, (h) information about the individual's political belief, association or activity, (i) information about the individual's education, employment or occupation or educational, employment or occupational history, (j) information about the individual's source of income or financial circumstances, activities or history, (k) information about the individual's criminal history, including regulatory offences, (l) the individual's own personal views or opinions, except if they are about another person, (m) the views or opinions expressed about the individual by another person, and (n) an identifying number, symbol or other particular assigned to the individual.

Collection of personal information

- 2. Unless the Agreement otherwise specifies or the Local Government otherwise directs in writing, the Supplier may only collect or create personal information that is necessary for the performance of the Supplier's obligations or the exercise of the Supplier's rights, under the Agreement.
- 3. Unless the Agreement otherwise specifies, or the Local Government otherwise directs in writing, the Supplier must collect personal information directly from the individual the information is about.

4. Unless the Agreement otherwise specifies or the Local Government otherwise directs in writing, the Services must make provision to inform an individual (and obtain their consent) from whom personal information is collected:
 - (a) the purpose for collecting it;
 - (b) the legal authority for collecting it; and
 - (c) the title, business address and business telephone number of the person designated by the Local Government to answer questions about the collection of personal information.

Integrity of personal information

5. The Supplier must make every reasonable effort to ensure the integrity and completeness of any personal information that comes within the custody or control of the Supplier as a result of the provision of the Services where that personal information is to be used by the Supplier or the Local Government to make a decision that directly affects the individual the information is about.

Requests for access to personal information

6. If the Supplier receives a request for access to personal information from a person other than the Local Government, the Supplier must promptly advise the person to make the request to the Local Government unless the Agreement expressly requires the Supplier to provide such access and, if the Local Government has advised the Supplier of the name or title and contact information of an official of the Local Government to whom such requests are to be made, the Supplier must also promptly provide that official's name or title and contact information to the person making the request.

Correction of personal information

7. Within five (5) business days of receiving a written direction from the Local Government to correct or annotate any personal information, the Supplier must annotate or correct the information in accordance with the direction.
8. When issuing a written direction under Section 7 of this Schedule, the Local Government must advise the Supplier the date the correction request to which the direction relates was received by the Local Government in order that the Supplier may comply with Section 10 of this Schedule.
9. Within five (5) business days of correcting or annotating any personal information under Section 8 of this Schedule, the Supplier must provide the corrected or annotated information to any party to whom, within one (1) year prior to the date the correction request was made to the Local Government, the Supplier disclosed the information being corrected or annotated.
10. If the Supplier receives a request for correction of personal information from a person other than the Local Government, the Supplier must promptly advise the person to make the request to the Local Government and, if the Local Government has advised the Supplier of the name or title and contact information of an official of the Local Government to whom such requests are to be made, the Supplier must also promptly provide that official's name or title and contact

information to the person making the request.

Protection of personal information

11. The Supplier must protect personal information by making reasonable security arrangements against such risks as unauthorized access, collection, use, disclosure or disposal, including any expressly set out in the Agreement.

Storage and access to personal information

12. The Supplier must not store personal information outside Canada or permit access to personal information from outside Canada.

Retention of personal information

13. Unless the Agreement otherwise specifies or unless the Local Government directs otherwise in writing, the Supplier must retain personal information for at least one (1) year following the date of its use and securely dispose of personal information no later than three years after its use.

Use of personal information

14. Unless the Local Government otherwise directs in writing, the Supplier may only use personal information if that use is required for the performance of the Services.

Disclosure of personal information

15. Unless the Local Government otherwise directs in writing, the Supplier may only disclose personal information inside Canada to any person other than the Local Government if the disclosure is for the performance of the Supplier's obligations or the exercise of the Supplier's rights, under the Agreement.
16. Unless the Agreement otherwise specifies or the Local Government otherwise directs in writing, the Supplier must not disclose personal information outside Canada.

Notice of unauthorized disclosure

17. If the Supplier knows that there has been an unauthorized disclosure of personal information in the custody or under the control of the Supplier, the Supplier must immediately notify the Local Government and take all necessary steps to mitigate and remediate. If the Supplier becomes aware of a security breach or any other event that compromises the security, confidentiality or integrity of any personal information (an "Incident"), the Supplier shall take appropriate actions to contain, investigate and mitigate the Incident. The Supplier shall also notify the Local Government and any individual of each and every Incident as soon as reasonably possible.

Inspection of personal information

18. In addition to any other rights of inspection the Local Government may have under the Agreement or under statute, the Local Government may, at any reasonable time during normal business hours and on reasonable notice to the Supplier, enter on the Supplier's premises to inspect any personal information in the custody or control of the Supplier as a result of its provision of the Services, and any of the Supplier's information management policies or practices relevant to the Supplier's management of personal information in connection with the Services or the Supplier's compliance with this Schedule, and the Supplier must permit, and provide reasonable assistance to, any such inspection. The inspection will be conducted in a

manner as not to interfere unreasonably with the Supplier's business operations, and is subject to the Supplier's reasonable confidentiality and security policies, procedures and requirements.

Compliance with the applicable legislation and directions

19. The Supplier must in relation to personal information comply with the requirements of the applicable legislation, including any applicable order under the applicable legislation and any direction given by the Local Government that is permitted or required to be given under this Agreement or pursuant to legislation.
20. The Supplier acknowledges that it is familiar with the requirements of the applicable legislation governing personal information that are applicable to it.

Notice of non-compliance

21. If for any reason the Supplier does not comply, or anticipates that it will be unable to comply, with a provision in this Schedule in any respect, the Supplier must promptly notify the Local Government of the particulars of the non-compliance or anticipated non-compliance and what steps it proposes to take to address, or prevent recurrence of, the non-compliance or anticipated non-compliance.

Termination of Agreement

22. In addition to any other rights or remedies which the Local Government may have under the Agreement or otherwise at law, the Local Government may, upon any failure of the Supplier to comply with this Schedule in a material respect, declare such non-compliance to be an Event of Default and terminate the Services, or a component thereof, and/or the Agreement, in accordance with Section 5 of the Agreement.

Interpretation

23. In this Schedule, references to sections by number are to sections of this Schedule unless otherwise specified in this Schedule.
24. Any reference to the "Supplier" in this Schedule includes any subcontractor or agent retained by the Supplier to perform obligations under the Agreement and the Supplier must ensure that any such subcontractors and agents comply with this Schedule.
25. The obligations of the Supplier in this Schedule will survive the termination of the Agreement and will only expire when the Supplier no longer has any personal information generated as a result of the Services in its custody or control.
26. If a provision of the Agreement (including any direction given by the Local Government under this Schedule) conflicts with a requirement of the applicable legislation or an applicable order under the applicable legislation, the conflicting provision of the Agreement (or direction) will be inoperative to the extent of the conflict.
27. The Supplier must comply with the provisions of this Schedule despite any conflicting provision of this Agreement or, subject to Section 28 of this Schedule, the law of any jurisdiction outside Canada.
28. Nothing in this Schedule requires the Supplier to contravene the law of any jurisdiction outside Canada unless such contravention is required to comply with the applicable legislation.

PROVINCE OF NEW BRUNSWICK

COUNTY OF YORK

AFFIDAVIT OF CORPORATE EXECUTION

I, Jennifer Lawson, of the City of Fredericton, in the County of York and Province of New Brunswick, **MAKE OATH AND SAY AS FOLLOWS:**

1. THAT I am the City Clerk of the City of Fredericton, one of the parties named in the foregoing instrument and as such I have personal knowledge of the matters herein deposed to.
2. THAT the seal affixed to the foregoing instrument purporting to be the seal of the City of Fredericton is the Corporate Seal of the City of Fredericton and was so affixed by order of the City Council.
3. THAT the signature "Kate Rogers" subscribed to the foregoing instrument is the signature of Kate Rogers, the Mayor of the City of Fredericton, and the signature "Jennifer Lawson" subscribed thereto is my signature.
4. THAT the Mayor and City Clerk are officers of the City of Fredericton duly authorized to execute the foregoing instrument.

SWORN TO BEFORE ME at the)
 City of Fredericton, in the County)
 of York and Province of New)
 Brunswick, this 29th day of)
 November 2022.)

_____)
 A Commissioner of Oaths)
 Being a Solicitor)

_____)
 Jennifer Lawson

